
 
 
 

Area Planning Committee (South and West) 
 

 
Date Thursday 23 March 2023 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. The Minutes of the Meeting held on 17 November 2022   
(Pages 3 - 10) 

4. Declarations of Interest (if any)   

5. Applications to be determined   

 a) DM/23/00032/FPA - Stack, 9A Newgate Street, Bishop 
Auckland, DL14 7EP  (Pages 11 - 40) 

  Demolition of building and structures and the erection of a mixed 
use building comprising uses within Use Class E 'Commercial, 
Business and Service' and Sui Generis 'Drinking Establishments 
and Venues for Live Music Performances and Events' with 
ancillary facilities, provision of a roof-top terrace with external 
seating and associated facilities 

 

 b) DM/21/00749/FPA - Meadow Farm Caravan Park Ramshaw 
Lane Ramshaw Bishop Auckland DL14 0NB  (Pages 41 - 70) 

  Change of use of land to facilitate the siting of 18no. static 
caravans for holiday use, camping and a 16. touring caravan site; 
formation of permeable hardstanding and access tracks; siting of 
amenities block; installation of foul drainage facilities; associated 
landscaping and planting; and manager's accommodation (part 
retrospective). 

 

6. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 



 
Helen Lynch 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
County Hall 
Durham 
15 March 2023 
 
 
To: The Members of the Area Planning Committee (South and 

West) 
 

 Councillor G Richardson (Chair) 
Councillor A Savory (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors E Adam, V Andrews, J Atkinson, D Boyes, D Brown, 
J Cairns, N Jones, L Maddison, M McKeon, D Oliver, S Quinn, 
I Roberts, M Stead and S Zair 

 
 
 
 
 

Contact:  Scott Hutchinson Tel: 03000 269706 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Area Planning Committee (South and West) held in 
Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham on Thursday 17 November 2022 at 
9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor G Richardson (Chair) 
 
Members of the Committee: 
Councillors A Savory (Vice-Chair), E Adam, V Andrews, J Atkinson, 
D Brown, N Jones, I Roberts, M Stead, S Zair and L A Holmes (substitute for 
D Oliver) 
 
Apologies: 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Liz Maddison, 
Councillor Maura McKeon and Councillor Shirley Quinn 
 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor L Maddison, Councillor 
M McKeon, Councillor D Oliver and Councillor S Quinn 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
Councillor L Holmes was present as substitute for Councillor D Oliver. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
No Declarations of Interest were received  
 

4 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 20 October 2022 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.  
 

5 Applications to be determined  
 

6 DM/22/01083/FPA and DM/22/01084/LB - Three Tuns Inn, Church 
Bank, Eggleston, Barnard Castle  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
The Committee considered a report of the Planning Officer, Susan Hyde 
which provided details of the applications for the conversion of public house 
to one permanent dwelling and 2 no. holiday lets with alterations including 
altered windows on the front, rear and side elevation at Three Tuns Inn, 
Church Bank, Eggleston, Barnard Castle, a full planning application and a 
listed building application (for copy see file of minutes).  
 
The Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation of the application which 
included a site location plan, aerial photographs and photographs of the site.  
She noted that the applications were recommended for approval, subject to 
the conditions as set out in the report.  
 
Maria Ferguson, Agent for the Applicant addressed the Committee and 
explained that she fully acknowledged the strength of feeling from the Parish 
Council, and members of the community who had raised concerns about the 
loss of the public house, including noting that it ‘was the end of an era’. She 
added times had changed, especially in recent years, and it was not possible 
to ignore the evidence supporting that the Three Tuns was not a viable 
business and would never open as a public house again. M Ferguson 
informed the Committee her clients had unfortunately purchased the building, 
long after the pub had failed and they did so without any fixtures and fittings, 
not a viable business. She noted that the Parish Council ignored the fact that, 
in total, five sets of individuals had tried to make the pub a successful 
business between 2013 and 2021, when it finally closed, and all had failed. 
She added it was not for the want of trying, some of those parties had filed 
for insolvency. M Ferguson informed the Committee that poor trading and the 
significant cost of the necessary refurbishments, which included the need for 
a new extraction system to replace the outmoded one and new electrical 
systems throughout, adding that there would be associated downtime while 
those works were carried out. The Agent brought Members attention to the 
fact there had been no interest in the Three Tuns Inn and that the Egglestone 
Community Asset Group’s application, to have the property listed as an asset 
of community value, had failed due to a lack of evidence of any use of the 
building which furthered the social wellbeing of the local community. It was 
felt by the Agent that the Planning Authority in this case would be hard 
pushed to defend on appeal a decision to refuse permission on the basis of 
the loss of the public house. The Agent informed the Committee the 
Applicants wanted to convert and fully refurbish the pub into a house for 
them to live in, whilst operating two holiday lets to supplement their income. 
M Ferguson explained the property needed complete re-wiring, wood rot 
treatment throughout, specialist re-pointing with hydraulic lime mortar, 
replacement sliding sash windows throughout, including unauthorised UPVC 
windows, new fascia boards, and cast-iron gutters and downpipes, a new flat 
roof, damp proofing, new heating, and full decoration. She added was a 
listed building in a prominent position in the Egglestone Conservation Area.  

Page 4



She noted that planning policy stated that finding a viable use for a heritage 
asset was the best way of ensuring its survival. She reiterated that the 
Applicants had invested significant sums of money into the property, despite 
the loss of the pub use, adding that the building continued to make a positive 
contribution to the character and appearance of the area. 
 
Councillor Adam asked if the building was currently being offered as 
accommodation and why the application to have the building listed as an 
asset of community value had been rejected.  The Agent informed the 
Committee that the building was not currently offered for accommodation and 
added that the application to list the building as an asset of community value 
had failed due to it not being seen as furthering community wellbeing.  
Councillor Adam asked for further clarification. The Planning Officer informed 
the Committee that the application had failed Section 88(1) due to a lack of 
evidence to support its ancillary use, with little evidence of support from the 
local community.  
 

Councillor Jones entered the meeting at 9.56 am 
 
The Chair noted that Councillor Jones could not take part in the vote on this 
item.  
 
Councillor Atkinson explained he was in support of the application and saw it 
as a positive step forward, noting the extent of the repairs needed. He also 
noted that any attempt to bring the property back into use as a public house 
would be a step too far for anyone and added that therefore he would move 
approval of the application in line with the Officer’s recommendation.  
 
Councillor Adam and Councillor Brown noted they were in full agreement 
with comments made by Councillor Atkinson.  
 
Councillor Atkinson moved the applications be approved, he was seconded 
by Councillor Adam.  
 
Upon a vote being taken it was: 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Application DM/22/01083/FPA be APPROVED subject to the conditions 
listed in the report.  
 
That Application DM/22/01084/LB be APPROVED subject to the conditions 
listed in the report.  
 

7 DM/21/03639/FPA - Bowlees Farm, Durham Road, Wolsingham, 
Bishop Auckland  

Page 5



 
The Committee considered a report of the Senior Planning Officer, George 
Spurgeon which provided details of an application for proposed 15 no. 
Holiday Lodges at Bowlees Farm, Durham Road, Wolsingham, Bishop 
Auckland (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
George Spurgeon, The Senior Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation 
of the application which included a site location plan, aerial photographs and 
photographs of the site.  He noted that the application was recommended for 
refusal as set out within the presentation and report.   
 
Amelia Robson, Agent for the Applicant addressed the Committee and 
explained that the proposals would allow for an extension to an existing 
successful business to provide an alternative offer to visitors, in accordance 
with Policy 8 of the Local Plan. She noted the location for the lodges had 
been identified following full consideration by a landscape architect, adding it 
was located within a dip in the valley. She added that although elevated from 
the A689, views of the site were limited from public view as there was 
existing screening surrounding the site. She explained that the scheme was 
landscape-led which meant that the least visible location had been chosen 
for the proposed lodges. She added that the application had received no 
objections from residents and Visit County Durham were very supportive of 
the proposals noting a significant demand for tourist accommodation within 
the local area. She noted that it was agreed that the economic benefit should 
be weighed in the planning balance when considering any potential impact to 
the landscape, however, she disagreed with the Officer’s assessment. She 
noted that the Officer described the site as exposed and elevated, however, 
the viewpoint within the presentation showed that this was not the case. The 
Agent noted nearly all visitors to Weardale travelled along the A689 and the 
viewpoint within the presentation demonstrated that any visitors would have 
no view of the site. She added the only point which allowed for views of the 
site was from the footpath located to the north, on the brow of the hill. She 
explained that the footpath was used infrequently and noted refusal based on 
a short term impact to a limited number of walkers was, in their opinion, not 
considered to be justified. She drew the Committee’s attention to sections of 
the report which noted that there were significant areas of existing and 
proposed landscaping. She noted a phased plan had been provided, 
demonstrating that the landscaping would be introduced at key stages to 
ensure screening of the proposal was optimised, with the construction of the 
lodges taking place at sensitive timescales across the period. She added that 
the proposal would deliver significant biodiversity net gains with a 13 percent 
gain in habitat units, a 140 percent gain in hedgerow units and a 64 percent 
gain in river units. The Agent noted the second and third reasons for refusal 
were archaeological and ecological matters, informing Members that 
information could be provided post-decision and the Local Planning Authority 
could control this with a suitably worded condition. The Agent noted the 

Page 6



proposal would provide much needed visitor accommodation to support a 
successful business.  She added that the location had been carefully 
selected to limit any impact to the landscape, that impact being significantly 
mitigated through landscaping and a carefully considered phased plan. She 
concluded by noting that the Applicant disagreed with Officers in their 
assessment and it was felt that the significant benefits arising from the 
proposal outweighed and mitigated against, any limited harm to the local 
landscape. 
 
Anthony Smith, the Applicant addressed the Committee noting he had been 
running the cottage for 20 years with over 120 visitors per week, adding that 
the proposal would help support the local economy noting the context that of 
the three pubs in the village, two had changed ownership due to struggling 
business. The Applicant informed the Committee he had been in construction 
a long time and the lodges had been designed to blend in and would not be 
seen from the ridges.  
 
Councillor Atkinson noted that the application seemed a sustainable project 
adding that, in the current economic climate, anything that was going to bring 
business into the area was a positive. He explained he understood the policy 
reasons for the refusal recommendation by the Officer, however he was still 
minded to approve.  
 
The Applicant informed the Committee that he had been running the site for 
20 years with an estimate of 70,000 people a year visiting the area. The 
Applicant noted that it was a profitable, family run business and that at the 
initial stages of development would only sought to add two or three holiday 
homes, adding that rapid growth of the site would not benefit anyone.  
 
Joe Ridgeon, Agent for the Applicant addressed the Committee and noted 
the research that had been carried out by Visit County Durham who had 
raised no objections to the application. The Agent reiterated the point that the 
applicant was only looking to add two or three lodges and gradually develop 
the site.  
 
Councillor Adam noted the focus on planning Policies eight, 10, 29 and 39 
and questioned if the Applicant could not develop around the lake, which 
would mitigate any landscape impact adding that whilst it would reduce the 
number of lodges the site would still be sustainable.  
 
In response to the question raised by Councillor Adam, the Agent informed 
the Committee that a smaller amount of lodges had been considered. He 
added that the approach of the application was to use the natural landscape 
arch to limit the visual impact noting the visibility of the existing pylons and 
their impact on the landscape had always been considered.  
 

Page 7



Councillor Adam enquired about the nature of the lodges and the possibility 
of reducing the level of lighting for the site.  
 
The Agent explained to the Committee that it was two-fold, informing the 
Committee that the Applicant had sought ecological advice, and that the 
lighting was designed to limit the impact of bat flight in the area and could be 
controlled by additional conditions. The Agent also informed the Committee 
that the application was in keeping with the setting and confirmed that the 
lodges would be used as visitor accommodation. 
 
Councillor Brown enquired as regards any figures provided to support the 
Visit County Durham’s comments on the need for this type of 
accommodation. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer informed the Committee that Visit County 
Durham supported the application and were not arguing that this type of 
accommodation was undersupplied.  
 
The Chair raised concerns in respect of the lake and enquired about the 
depth of the lake, and its edge and any potential danger to children.  
 
The Applicant informed the Committee that whilst the lake was deep, no 
water sports were allowed. He explained that the edge was shallow, getting 
deeper further into the lake, adding that life rings preservers were present.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer informed the Committee that the need for this 
type of accommodation was not disputed and explained that the objections to 
the application were based on a need to protect the quality of the landscape 
and concerns over the applications location.  
 
Councillor Atkinson informed the Committee that he could see the economic 
value of the application, noting the Applicant was a local businessman who 
knew the area. Councillor Atkinson noted he was minded to go against the 
Officer’s recommendation and approve the application.   
 
Steven Pilkington, South and West Team Leader addressed the Committee 
noting that fundamentally the issues raised by the Agents and Applicant on 
the application came down to a difference of professional opinion. Adding 
that an application of this type needed to be in the right location and in this 
particular instance it was felt this was the wrong site, and the benefits did not 
outweigh the landscape damage.  
 
Councillor Stead noted that the application was being brought forward by a 
successful business, however, he added there were so many issues that 
were not in line with the County Council Plan. He noted that whilst such 
accommodation was needed, it had to be on the right site.  

Page 8



 
Councillor Holmes noted he was eager to see projects such as this, 
commenting that there was a need for such accommodation. He added there 
was also a need to protect the countryside and moved refusal of the 
application, he was seconded by Councillor Stead.  
 
Councillor Adam drew Members’ attention to the lack of objections to the 
application, noting in particular Natural England having no objections, with all 
the objections being from the Planning Department. Councillor Adam added 
he believed the area was suitable for such development and would be 
sustainable, noting it was an established base for tourism and the right 
balance between attracting tourism and the environmental harm had to be 
reached. Councillor Adam was in favour of the slow process in terms of site 
development and asked if further conditions could be added in respect of 
further development, to mitigate against any potential harm to the 
environment.  
 
Councillor Andrews enquired about the archaeology report and if that 
information would still be required should the application be approved.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer confirmed the information would still be required, 
adding that should anything be found, that could impact the application.  
 
Councillor Atkinson was minded to approve the application, believing the 
consideration of the application came down to a difference of professional 
opinion. He added that he felt the argument for the application being in the 
wrong place was opinion, and noted the amount of work the Applicant had 
put in to the application.  
 
Councillor Savory explained that, as Local Member, the area in question was 
known to her and added she could see the application from both sides. She 
raised concerns over the increase in traffic to the area that the application 
would bring, adding that the application site would not be visible and queried 
whether residents of the lodges would become permanent residents.  
 
The Chair asked for clarification as regards the height of the lodges.  
 
The Applicant informed the Committee that the lodges would be set into the 
northern ridge and would stand roughly one metre above the ridge.  
 
Councillor Zair informed the Committee he had listened to the debate and 
understood the concerns regarding the visual impact of the application and 
also concerns around potential health and safety issues associated with the 
lake and potential flooding. Councillor Zair added that it was a good project, 
however it was proposed in the wrong location.  
 

Page 9



Councillor Brown noted he had listened to the debate and still felt undecided, 
adding that the location chosen was the gateway to the Dales. He noted that 
the application was being made by a successful business trying to branch 
out. He raised concerns over the application distracting from the views of the 
Dales.  
 
Councillor Stead noted whilst it was good to see a local business looking to 
expand, an application of this kind had to be in the right place and reiterated 
his concerns over the location chosen and queried why the application was 
for 15 lodges when only two or three were needed. Councillor Stead 
suggested that the Committee moved to a vote.  
 
Councillor Adam queried if further conditions could be added if the 
application was approved relating to the phasing in of the amount of lodges 
on the site and if works could be halted to protect the landscape.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer informed the Committee that the phasing in plan 
had been submitted with the application with development to take place over 
a four-year period.  
 
The South and West Team leader informed the Committee that the original 
application had been for 15 lodges with the phasing in plan, and no further 
conditions could be added to halt the development once it had begun.  
 
Councillor Atkinson added that he believed the site being unsuitable was a 
matter of opinion, mentioning Councillor Stead by name. Councillor Stead 
raised a point of order. The Chair reminded Members to be mindful of their 
conduct in a public meeting.  
 
Upon a vote being taken it was: 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
The application be REFUSED as per Officer’s recommendation 

 

Page 10



 
  

Planning Services 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

APPLICATION DETAILS 
 

Application No:    DM/23/00032/FPA 
 
Full Application Description: Demolition of building and structures and 

the erection of a mixed use building 
comprising uses within Use Class E 
'Commercial, Business and Service' and Sui 
Generis 'Drinking Establishments and 
Venues for Live Music Performances and 
Events' with ancillary facilities, provision of a 
roof-top terrace with external seating and 
associated facilities 

 
Name of Applicant: Mr Neill Winch (STACK Limited) 
 
Address: 9A Newgate Street, Bishop Auckland, DL14 

7EP 
 
Electoral Division:    Bishop Auckland Town 
 
Case Officer:     George Spurgeon (Senior Planning Officer) 
      Tel: 03000 261 959 
      Email: george.spurgeon@durham.gov.uk 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSAL 

 
The Site 
 
1.  The application site relates to no. 9 – 11 Newgate Street which is located in the 

town of Bishop Auckland, to the south west of the County. Newgate Street forms 
a long and straight shopping and service street within the town centre, the site 
is located to the northern end of the street close to the Market Place. The site 
lies within the Bishop Auckland Conservation Area and within the Primary 
Shopping Area of the town centre. As such the surrounding area is 
predominantly commercial, however 18no. housing association flats are located 
approximately 10.5m to the rear of the site (60 Kingsway). 
 

2.  The site and existing building also feature in the setting of the rear of 1a &1b 
Market Place (Auckland House) which is Grade II listed and the former 
headquarters of the Doggarts department store chain. The application site also 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5a



plays a role in the setting of No.18 Newgate Street (former Yorkshire Bank) 
which is Grade II listed and lies opposite the site. 

 
3.  The site is rectangular in shape and measures approximately 747m2 in area. 

To the southern portion of the site a gap is where an earlier building was sited, 
this gap interrupts an otherwise continuous frontage. The vacant building was 
the home of Mothercare until the building suffered structural defects and 
needed to be demolished. Steel bracing structures are present on the site, 
installed to provide structural stability following the collapse of the previous 
building The cleared site has now stood vacant for over 10 years and is 
currently screened by hoardings. The north of the site is occupied by an interwar 
building constructed as part of a regional department store chain and most 
recently occupied by Fawcetts Butchers and WH Smith.  

 
4. A service yard is located to the rear of the site which provides direct vehicle 

access to the site. This service area also provides vehicle access to the 
residential Housing Association flats and other commercial premises.  
 

The Proposal 
 
5.  This application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the 

remaining building on site and the removal of the steel bracing structures. A 
new three storey building is then proposed to be erected to provide a mixed-
use leisure development, operated by ‘STACK’ an established regional 
operator of mixed-use leisure development. The site is currently owned by the 
Council but will be leased to STACK. 

 
6.  The proposed use would comprise a mix of local independent street food 

traders and bars, as well as space that will host live music, entertainment, 
community and leisure, health, and fitness events. There is intended to be a 
wide variety of tenants such as a coffee shops, street food traders and food 
kiosks. The building would be utilised to provide a space for social, cultural and 
community events that could include quizzes, children’s events, comedy events 
and productions.  

 
7.  The development would provide approximately 2000m2 of floor space and span 

the width of the development site, adjoining adjacent buildings. The height of 
the new building would measure approximately 10.5m in height, and when 
viewed from Newgate Street would follow the eaves line of the adjacent 
properties. The building would be constructed using a steel frame, with powder 
coated dark grey metal that would be visible to the external elevations. The front 
elevation would include a central glazed tower with external terraces either side. 
The material for the outer wings to either side has been revised to a dark grey 
brick. The appearance of the building is more functional to the rear and would 
be clad in powder coated metal cladding.  

 
8.  A central ground floor entrance from Newgate Street is proposed, this would  

lead to a central showcase plaza and stage, with a balcony above to provide a 
viewing area onto the stage from the first floor. The first floor would also feature 
an external terrace onto Newgate Street, with the second floor comprising an 
external roof terrace with glazed frontage onto Newgate Street. An internal roof 
lantern would provide views onto the stage below, while enclosed staff and plant 

Page 12



rooms would sit under a lean to roof to the rear. Staircases and a lift are 
proposed to provide access between floors. 

 
9.  6no. cycle hoops with a capacity to store up to 12no. bicycles are proposed to 

be installed to the rear of the building, with provision for a dedicated bin storage 
area also made to the rear. The site would be accessed by pedestrians from 
Newgate Street with a servicing area to the rear accessed via Kingsway.  

 
10.  The application is being reported to planning committee in accordance with the 

Council’s Scheme of Delegation as the proposals represent major development 
with the proposed floor area exceeding 1000m2. 
 

PLANNING HISTORY 

 
11.  Previous applications relating to this site predominantly sought consent for 

advertisements and minor alterations to the shop frontages linked to the former 
uses. 

 

PLANNING POLICY 
 

National Policy 
 

12.  A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 
2018 (with updates since). The overriding message continues to be that new 
development that is sustainable should go ahead without delay. It defines the 
role of planning in achieving sustainable development under three overarching 
objectives – economic, social and environmental, which are interdependent and 
need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. 
 

13.  NPPF Part 2 Achieving Sustainable Development - The purpose of the planning 
system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and 
therefore at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. It defines the role of planning in achieving sustainable 
development under three overarching objectives - economic, social and 
environmental, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways. The application of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development for plan-making and decision-taking is outlined. 
 

14.  NPPF Part 4 Decision-making - Local planning authorities should approach 
decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way. They should 
use the full range of planning tools available, including brownfield registers and 
permission in principle, and work proactively with applicants to secure 
developments that will improve the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every level should seek to approve 
applications for sustainable development where possible. 
 

15.  NPPF Part 6 Building a Strong, Competitive Economy - The Government is 
committed to securing economic growth in order to create jobs and prosperity, 
building on the country's inherent strengths, and to meeting the twin challenges 
of global competition and a low carbon future. 
 

Page 13



16.      NPPF Part 7 - Ensuring the vitality of town centres- Planning policies should be 
positive, promote competitive town centre environments and set out policies for 
the management and growth of centres over the plan period. 
 

17.  NPPF Part 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities- The planning system 
can play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, 
inclusive communities. Developments should be safe and accessible; Local 
Planning Authorities should plan positively for the provision and use of shared 
space and community facilities. An integrated approach to considering the 
location of housing, economic uses and services should be adopted. 
 

18.  NPPF Part 9 Promoting Sustainable Transport - Encouragement should be 
given to solutions which support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and 
reduce congestion. Developments that generate significant movement should 
be located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable 
transport modes maximised. 
 

19.  NPPF Part 11 - Making effective use of land - Planning policies and decisions 
should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and 
other uses, while safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring 
safe and healthy living conditions. Strategic policies should set out a clear 
strategy for accommodating objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes 
as much use as possible of previously developed or ‘brownfield’ land.  
 

20.  NPPF Part 12 Achieving Well-Designed Places - The Government attaches 
great importance to the design of the built environment, with good design a key 
aspect of sustainable development, indivisible from good planning. 
 

21.  NPPF Part 14 Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal 
Change - The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon 
future in a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. 
It should help to shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in 
greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; 
encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of existing 
buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure. 
 

22.  NPPF Part 15 Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment - 
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. The Planning System 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests, 
recognising the wider benefits of ecosystems, minimising the impacts on 
biodiversity, preventing both new and existing development from contributing to 
or being put at unacceptable risk from Page 73 pollution and land stability and 
remediating contaminated or other degraded land where appropriate. 
 

23.  NPPF Part 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. Heritage 
assets range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the 
highest significance, such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally 
recognised to be of Outstanding Universal Value. These assets are an 
irreplaceable resource and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to 

Page 14



their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality 
of life of existing and future generations.   
 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance: 

 
24.  The Government has consolidated a number of planning practice guidance 

notes, circulars and other guidance documents into a single Planning Practice 
Guidance Suite. This document provides planning guidance on a wide range of 
matters. Of particular relevance to this application is the practice guidance with 
regards to; air quality; historic environment; design process and tools; 
determining a planning application; flood risk; healthy and safe communities; 
land affected by contamination; housing and economic development needs 
assessments; housing and economic land availability assessment; light 
pollution; natural environment; noise; use of planning conditions; and; water 
supply, wastewater and water quality. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  

 
Local Plan Policy: 
 
The County Durham Plan (CDP) 
 
25.  Policy 9 (Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Development) seeks to protect and 

enhance the hierarchy of Sub Regional, Large Town, Small Town, District and 
Local retail centres in the county 
 

26.  Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport) requires all development to deliver 
sustainable transport by: delivering, accommodating and facilitating investment 
in sustainable modes of transport; providing appropriate, well designed, 
permeable and direct routes for all modes of transport; ensuring that any 
vehicular traffic generated by new development can be safely accommodated; 
creating new or improvements to existing routes and assessing potential 
increase in risk resulting from new development in vicinity of level crossings. 
Development should have regard to Parking and Accessibility Supplementary 
Planning Document. 
 

27.  Policy 29 (Sustainable Design) details general design principles for all 
development stating that new development should contribute positively to an 
areas' character, identity, heritage significance, townscape and landscape 
features, helping to create and reinforce locally distinctive and sustainable 
communities. 
 

28.  Policy 31 (Amenity and Pollution) sets out that development will be permitted 
where it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable impact, either 
individually or cumulatively, on health, living or working conditions or the natural 
environment and that they can be integrated effectively with any existing 
business and community facilities. Development will not be permitted where 
inappropriate odours, noise, vibration and other sources of pollution cannot be 
suitably mitigated against, as well as where light pollution is not suitably 
minimised. Permission will not be granted for sensitive land uses near to 

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


potentially polluting development. Similarly, potentially polluting development 
will not be permitted near sensitive uses unless the effects can be mitigated. 
 

29.  Policy 32 (Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land) 
requires that where development involves such land, any necessary mitigation 
measures to make the site safe for local communities and the environment are 
undertaken prior to the construction or occupation of the proposed development 
and that all necessary assessments are undertaken by a suitably qualified 
person. 
 

30.  Policy 35 (Water Management) requires all development proposals to consider 
the effect of the proposed development on flood risk, both on-site and off-site, 
commensurate with the scale and impact of the development and taking into 
account the predicted impacts of climate change for the lifetime of the proposal. 
All new development must ensure there is no net increase in surface water 
runoff for the lifetime of the development. Amongst its advice, the policy 
advocates the use of SuDS and aims to protect the quality of water. 
 

31.  Policy 36 (Water Infrastructure) advocates a hierarchy of drainage options for 
the disposal of foul water. Applications involving the use of non-mains methods 
of drainage will not be permitted in areas where public sewerage exists. New 
sewage and wastewater infrastructure will be approved unless the adverse 
impacts outweigh the benefits of the infrastructure. Proposals seeking to 
mitigate flooding in appropriate locations will be permitted though flood defence 
infrastructure will only be permitted where it is demonstrated as being the most 
sustainable response to the flood threat. 
 

32.  Policy 41 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) states that proposal for new 
development will not be permitted if significant harm to biodiversity or 
geodiversity resulting from the development cannot be avoided, or 
appropriately mitigated, or as a last resort, compensated for. 
 

33.  Policy 43 (Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected Sites) 
development proposals that would adversely impact upon nationally protected 
sites will only be permitted where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts 
whilst adverse impacts upon locally designated sites will only be permitted 
where the benefits outweigh the adverse impacts. Appropriate mitigation or, as 
a last resort, compensation must be provided where adverse impacts are 
expected. In relation to protected species and their habitats, all development 
likely to have an adverse impact on the species’ abilities to survive and maintain 
their distribution will not be permitted unless appropriate mitigation is provided, 
or the proposal meets licensing criteria in relation to European protected 
species. 
 

34.  Policy 44 (Historic Environment) seeks to ensure that developments should 
contribute positively to the built and historic environment and seek opportunities 
to enhance and, where appropriate, better reveal the significance and 
understanding of heritage assets. The policy advises on when harm or total loss 
of the significance of heritage assets can be accepted and the 
circumstances/levels of public benefit which must apply in those instances. 

 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp  

Page 16

https://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp


 
Neighbourhood Plan: 

 
35.  The application site is not located within an area where there is a 

Neighbourhood Plan to which regard is to be had. 
 

CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES 

 
Statutory Consultee Responses: 

 
36.  Bishop Auckland Town Council – Offer full support for the application as they 

consider the proposals to create an attractive prospect for the town and to meet 
four of the five key ambitions that make up the "Regeneration Statement" from 
Durham County Council to create vibrant and successful towns, top locations 
for businesses, sustainable neighbourhoods, and to enable competitive and 
successful people. 
 

37.  The Coal Authority – Consider that the content and conclusions of the submitted 
revised Phase I Desk Study (February 2023) from HBPW LLP meet the 
requirements of the planning system in demonstrating that the application site 
is safe and stable for the proposed development and therefore confirm they 
have no objection to the proposed development.  
 

38.  Lead Local Flood Authority – Advise that if there is no suitable surface water 
outlet, discharge to the combined sewer system would be acceptable but should 
be controlled to greenfield runoff rates taking into account all storm events up 
to and including the 1 in 100 year event plus 45% for climate change 
 

39.  Highways Authority – Advise that the site is situated within a well-established 
commercial area with good links for pedestrians and cyclists to access the site. 
The proposal would be serviced from the rear via an unadopted road accessed 
from the C130 Kingsway Road where there is adequate secure refuse storage 
proposed which can be safely accessed for collection. It is advised that cycle 
storage facilities should be secured by condition in accordance with the latest 
DCC Parking Standards. Overall, no objections are raised. 
 

40.  Historic England – Advise that although positive amendments to the incorporate 
brick materials on the side panels of the building, a less industrial form of 
construction would make the building relate more positively to the conservation 
area. Concerns are raised that this remains a missed opportunity to facilitate 
enhancement to the town’s heritage in a prominent part of the conservation 
area as advocated by the NPPF. Overall, it is advised that the application would 
cause a less than substantial degree of harm to the Bishop Auckland 
Conservation Area. It is considered that a balanced decision between harm and 
public benefit, which can be economic and social in nature, is required to be 
made in by the local planning authority in line with the NPPF. 

 
Non-Statutory Responses: 
 
41.  Spatial Policy – Advise that the proposals would help to secure the long-term 

occupancy of a building/site and mitigate the vacancy rate within Bishop 
Auckland town centre. The proposal would also remove an eyesore from 

Page 17



Newgate Street which will have a positive impact on the vitality and viability of 
the town centre. 
 

42.  Design and Conservation – Advise that this application proposes an ambitious 
food, beverage and entertainment development which offers much in response 
to regeneration aspirations of the wider town and identified needs in this sector 
to support and stimulate ongoing wider developments. The principal impact of 
the development is on the surrounding conservation area, with the major benefit 
being the restoration of built development to a gap site present for more than a 
decade blighting the immediate area. To facilitate this a degree of harm results 
from the loss of a building which makes a positive contribution to the 
surrounding area as a result of historic and architectural significance, although 
both have been eroded. It is considered that this minor level of harm can be 
outweighed by the wider public benefits of the proposal subject to the wider 
acceptability of the proposed development. Minor design and material changes 
have been made to address initial concerns and recommendations. Overall, 
any residual harm, categorised as less than substantial should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal.  
 

43.  Heritage Action Zone – Advise that if consent for demolition is given then it 
should be subject to an historic building survey and recording prior to 
demolition. It I identified that the site to occupies a prominent location within the 
Conservation Area, with the proposed materials and illuminated vinyl signage 
likely to impact the historic setting, the views of Historic England and the 
Councils Design and Conservation team should be taken into account.  
 

44.  Environmental Health Nuisance – Indicate their satisfaction with the 
conclusions and recommendations of the revised Noise Impact Assessment 
and recommend conditions to restrict opening hours, secure details of odour 
management, a light spillage plan and a Construction Management Plan. 
Subject to these recommendations to be secured by condition the impacts 
arising from the development can be satisfactorily mitigated.  
 

45.  Environmental Health Contamination – Advise that the Phase 1 Contamination 
report recommends further site investigations. A Phase 2 contaminated land 
report should be secured via condition. 
 

46.  Environmental Health Air Quality – Confirm that no further information regarding 
air quality is required subject to a condition to secure details of a dust 
management plan. 
 

47.  Ecology – Following the inclusion of bat and bird boxes to achieve a net 
biodiversity gain, no objections are raised to the development.  
 

External Consultees 
 

48.  Visit County Durham – Indicate their support for the proposal commenting that 
Bishop Auckland has invested heavily in its overall destination offer in recent 
years and the town is now establishing itself as destination with a wide range 
of attractions. Visitors drawn to Bishop Auckland's expanding portfolio of 
attractions will need somewhere to eat and drink and an evening entertainment 
offer should be encouraged. Advise that the longer that visitors to stay in the 

Page 18



area, either as overnight visitors or day extenders, the more they will spend and 
add to the viability of local businesses and employment. 
 

49.  Northumbrian Water – Confirm they have no specific comments to make other 
than they actively encourage the use of sustainable drainage systems. 
 

50.  Police Architectural Liaison Officer – Make recommendations around the use 
of CCTV and staffing but raise no objections to the proposals. 
 

51.  Durham Constabulary – No comments received. 
 

52.  County Durham Fire and Rescue – No comments received. 
 

53.  Bishop Auckland Town Centre Manager – No comments received. 
 
Public Responses: 
  
54.  The application has been advertised by way of a site notice, an advertisement 

in the local press and individual notification letters.  
 

55.  One letter of representation has been received requesting that the impacts of 
the proposals on the residents of the supported living accommodation at 60 
Kingsway, to the rear of the site, are considered. The extent of the opening 
hours of the development are questioned, with a preference indicated for a 
reduction in opening times. 

 
Applicants Statement: 
 
56.  The application proposes to redevelop the former WH Smith and Mothercare 

site within Bishop Auckland town centre into a new STACK facility that will 
promote and enhance the centre’s attraction. The applicant and Council have 
worked in a positive and constructive manner to bring the proposed 
development forward through the planning system as well as liaising with 
Bishop Auckland Town Council prior to the submission of the application, with 
the Town Council also providing its support for the proposal during the 
application.  
 

57.  The proposal will provide an exciting mixed use space which includes food 
kiosks, cafes, bars and other uses. The proposal will allow for small businesses 
to occupy the spaces allowing for a variety of choice for consumers. The venue 
will also provide for live music performances and events for local people and 
visitors to Bishop Auckland. Through enhancing the attraction of the centre, the 
proposal will support existing businesses within it as well as promoting the town 
centre as a location for new businesses to invest within it. The proposal is 
positive investment that accords with the Council’s objectives to improve Bishop 
Auckland through the significant funding that it has secured as part of Future 
High Street Funding, Towns Funding and Levelling Up Funding. The proposal 
therefore also fully complements the Council’s significant investment within the 
centre through initiatives such as the Council’s plans for a new bus station and 
its recent investment in acquiring the Newgate Shopping Centre. 
 

Page 19



58.  Bishop Auckland has a high vacancy rate which currently stands at 26.3%. The 
Spatial Policy Team has recognised the important investment that the 
proposals would contribute to the area and their support is welcomed. The 
existing site detracts from the character of the high street, town centre and the 
Conservation Area. The proposal provides significant investment to redevelop 
the site and revitalise this part of the town centre.  
 

59.  The proposal will create 75 new jobs generating around £1.2m in local earnings 
that presents the possibility to support further businesses within the local area. 
The Applicant is STACK who are a reputable hospitality business in the north-
east. The proposal is part of STACK’s commitment to invest in the County with 
an application for a STACK in Durham City Centre currently under 
consideration.  
 

60.  This development is within the town centre, which isa highly sustainable 
location for the proposal. The location allows for visitors to access the site on 
foot and by bike from surrounding residential areas and by sustainable transport 
methods such as buses or trains. 
 

61.  The proposal includes a roof terrace which is a key feature of the scheme and 
will be an attractive selling point for people visiting the street food outlets, bars 
and cafes of STACK. The applicant has worked extensively with Durham 
County Council Officers, specifically the Environmental Health Officer to ensure 
that the proposed roof terrace would not negatively impact on the amenity of 
the surrounding area. Through this consultation, appropriate noise mitigation is 
proposed that ensures the amenity of surrounding residents.  
 

62.  We therefore conclude that the proposal revitalises a currently redundant site 
in the centre of Bishop Auckland. The STACK development provides inward 
investment within the town and wider area by providing new opportunities for 
small local businesses, employment opportunities and an exciting venue for 
local people and visitors.    

 

PLANNING CONSIDERATION AND ASSESSMENT 

 
63.  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out that 

if regard is to be had to the development plan, decisions should be made in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. In accordance with advice within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), the policies contained therein are material considerations 
that should be taken into account in decision making. Other material 
considerations include representations received. In this context, it is considered 
that the main planning issues in this instance relate to the Principle of 
Development, the Impact upon Heritage Assets, Highway Safety, Residential 
Amenity, Flooding/Drainage, Ecology, Ground Conditions, and Sustainability. 
 

Principle of Development 
 

64.  Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a material planning 
consideration. The County Durham Plan (CDP) is the statutory development 

Page 20



plan and the starting point for determining applications as set out in the Planning 
Act and reinforced at Paragraph 12 of the NPPF. The CDP was adopted in 
October 2020 and provides the policy framework for the County up until 2035 
and is therefore considered up to date. 
 

65.  NPPF Paragraph 11c requires applications for development proposals that 
accord with an up to date development plan to be approved without delay. 
NPPF Paragraph 12 states that where a planning application conflicts with an 
up-to-date development plan (including any neighbourhood plans that form part 
of the development plan), permission should not usually be granted. Local 
planning authorities may take decisions that depart from an up-to-date 
development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular case 
indicate that the plan should not be followed. 
 

66.  County Durham Plan (CDP) Policy 9 sets out a hierarchy of town centres across 
the County and identifies Bishop Auckland town centre as a Sub Regional 
Centre. Policy 9 supports new town centre development across all of the 
County's centres that will improve choice and bring about regeneration and 
environmental improvements. The site also lies within the defined Primary 
Shopping Area, where Policy 9 sets out that A1 (retail) uses will be supported, 
while other uses will be permitted where they preserve the vitality and viability 
of the Area.  
 

67.  The supporting text to Policy 9 states that Bishop Auckland town centre has 
significant levels of floorspace within its defined centre boundary, with several 
major, national and multiple retailers represented, and serves Spennymoor, 
Crook and much of the rural west. A range of projects are being developed 
across the town centre investing in the culture, heritage and economy of the 
town including the Bishop Auckland Heritage Action Zone and also the Zubaran 
Centre for Spanish and Latin American Art. Policy 9 supports proposals that will 
deliver the aims of the Town Centre Masterplan, to increase footfall within the 
town centre and improve its vitality and viability. 
 

68.  The Bishop Auckland Regeneration Town Centre Masterplan (2019) seeks to 
build on the significant investment at Auckland Castle through the Auckland 
Project and Eleven Arches. The Masterplan identifies that in order to encourage 
more people to use the town centre throughout the day and evening, there is a 
need to provide a greater variety of and better shops, increase the number of 
cafes, restaurants, and bars (including live music entertainment). 
 

69.  The Masterplan identifies three key issues: to fill empty shops; provide 
attractions; and to provide food & beverage options. However, the proportion of 
cafes/restaurants within Bishop Auckland town centre is less than half the 
national average for such uses within town centres. This runs counter with the 
centre’s emerging focus as an arts and cultural destination where food and 
beverage facilities will play a key role in the overall visitor experience and in 
extending dwell time. The Masterplan specifically identifies the land at the 
application site through its redevelopment, as a key opportunity to regenerate 
this area. 
 

70.  As part of the regeneration of Bishop Auckland town centre the Council are also 
investing in public infrastructure such as the Newgate Shopping Centre and a 

Page 21



new bus station and car park. The proposed development forms a key project 
advanced by the Council and enabled by Future High Street Funding. The 
objective of the projects within the Future High Street Fund being to attract 
between 430,000 and 660,000 day visitors to the town per year by 2024, a 
significant increase from the pre-2016 levels of 27,000 visitors annually. 
 

71. This above policy approach and wider strategy aligns with the NPPF which 
advises that planning policies should define a network and hierarchy of town 
centres and promote their long-term vitality and viability by allowing them to 
grow and diversify in a way that can respond to rapid changes in the retail and 
leisure industries. This includes including allowing a suitable mix of uses; 
defining the extent of town centres and primary shopping areas; and making 
clear the range of uses permitted in such locations, as part of a positive strategy 
for the future of each centre. 
 

72.  The application seeks to erect a mixed use building comprising various food 
and drink operators (Use Class E) and a central plaza with stage to enable live 
music performances (Use Class Sui Generis). These uses are considered to be 
main town centre uses as defined by Annex 2 of the NPPF. 
 

73.  The Council monitor town centres on an annual basis and this provides an 
assessment of the mix of uses within town centres within the County. The most 
recent assessment of Bishop Auckland was carried out in the summer of 2022, 
when the proportion of vacant units stood at 26.3%. This proposal relates to two 
of the vacant units and is also a ‘gap site’ within the town centre. In this respect, 
the development would have a positive impact on both the vacancy levels and 
bringing a vacant site back into use. Bishop Auckland town centre has the 
second highest vacancy rate in the County, and it is significantly above the 
national average of 14.1%. In light of this, it is considered that the proposal is 
likely to enhance the vitality and viability of the centre, through the introduction 
of main town centre uses and creation of a livelier and more vibrant town centre, 
particularly on an evening and weekends.  
 

74.  The applicant has advised that the STACK facility in Seaburn attracts 
approximately 100,000 monthly visitors, with 70% of visitors coming from the 
Sunderland area and 30% coming from outside this area. 55% of users of a 
STACK facility visit more than once and 65% stay for more than two hours. In 
Newcastle, 66% of visitors to STACK also undertook a shop for non-essential 
goods, 90% also visited another licensed leisure premises, and 70% dined at 
another restaurant during their visit to Newcastle City Centre. Therefore, it is 
considered that the proposed development would create a new destination 
within a prominent town centre location in Bishop Auckland which would 
increase footfall thereby improving the vitality and viability of the town centre. 
 

75.  Further to this, the applicant has confirmed that approximately 75 people would 
be employed as a result of operations at the site, equating to 54 full-time 
equivalent employees. This is considered a further benefit weighing in favour of 
the application. 
 

76.  In summary, the proposed development would bring a vacant site within the 
primary shopping area back into active use through the creation of a new 
destination comprising a mix of town centre uses. The town centre has a high 

Page 22



vacancy rate, and the proposal would increase footfall and remove an eyesore 
from Newgate Street, which would have a positive impact on the vitality and 
viability of the town centre. Therefore, it is considered that the proposals can 
draw significant support from CDP Policy 9 and NPPF Paragraph 86. 
 

Impact upon Heritage Assets 
 

77.  NPPF Paragraph 197 advises that in determining applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing 
the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent 
with their conservation; the positive contribution that conservation of heritage 
assets can make to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; 
and the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness. 
 

78.  NPPF Paragraph 199 advises that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential 
harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance. 
 

79.  In addition, NPPF Paragraph 206 advises that Local Planning Authorities 
should look for opportunities for new development within Conservation Areas 
and within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their 
significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a 
positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) should 
be treated favourably. 
 

80.  The approach of CDP Policy 44 is consistent with the NPPF in this respect in 
that it requires new development to contribute positively to the built and historic 
environment and seek opportunities to enhance, and where appropriate, better 
reveal the significance and understanding of heritage assets. The policy also 
sets out that development which leads to less than substantial harm to a 
designated heritage asset is required to be weighed against the public benefits 
of the proposal.  
 

81.  The aforementioned policies and guidance require the Local Planning Authority 
to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of the Conservation Area and this is in accordance 
with section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990. 
 

82.  In assessing the development against the above policy criteria, as advised by 
the Councils Design and Conservation Officer, the significance of the site 
derives from its position and contribution within the designated Bishop Auckland 
Conservation Area. It is recognised that at present the gap site element is 
harmful to the character, appearance and significance of the area adding to the 
sense of vacancy and decay which has characterised parts of the town in recent 
years. The retained building on site, although much altered, represents a rare 
style and period of development in the town context. The upper floors, with the 
exception of the original pediment, remain intact and make a positive 

Page 23



contribution. This building has further historic and communal value given the 
links to the former town department store. Overall, the retained building has low 
but some significance in the context of the wider conservation area.  
 

83.  The site and extant building also feature in the setting of the rear of 1a &1b 
Market Place (Auckland House) - Grade II listed, the former headquarters of the 
Doggarts department store chain, although any physical links between the 
application site and these listed buildings are now lost as far as can be 
ascertained. The application site also plays a role in the setting of No.18 
Newgate Street (former Yorkshire Bank) Grade II listed which lies opposite the 
site. 
 

84.  As set out above, the development proposes the demolition of the existing 
building on the site and the formation of an infill development. This would align 
with the existing building line running along Newgate Street, with eaves height 
following the line of the adjacent properties. However, the replacement/new 
building would be modern in appearance using an industrial form of construction 
to align the with the developers’ corporate image and to provide a 
statement/landmark building within Newgate Street. This would be done by 
utilising a visible steel frame while the front elevation would also include a 
central glazed tower with external terraces either side. The material proposed 
for the outer wings to either side would be a dark grey brick. The appearance 
of the building to the rear is more functional which provides a secondary access 
point and servicing and is clad in powder coated metal cladding.  
 

85. Despite amendments to the scheme which they consider positive, Historic 
England still raise concerns on the appearance of development, advising that a 
less industrial form of construction would make the building relate more 
positively to the conservation area. They consider that this remains a missed 
opportunity to facilitate enhancement to the town’s heritage in a prominent part 
of the conservation area as advocated by the NPPF. Overall, they advise that 
the proposed development would cause a less than substantial degree of harm 
to the Bishop Auckland Conservation Area, and that a balanced decision 
between harm and public benefit, which can be economic and social in nature, 
is required to be made by the Local Planning Authority in line with the NPPF. 

 
86.  In assessing the application, following amendments, the Council’s Design and 

Conservation Officer advises that the scale and mass of development is broadly 
acceptable. The eaves line of the development follows that which is already 
established, and horizontal references are made to adjacent signage zones and 
fenestration patterns helping to integrate the basic unit. It is advised that the 
development is well detailed in this respect and handles alien features like 
recessed balconies or terraces well, providing a talking point without being 
overtly obtrusive. The oversailing of the steel frame above the eaves is 
considered to represent a landmark intervention which suggests an 
assertiveness and competition for attention within the street. In this instance, 
this forms a key part of the branding that makes STACK unique as a key 
regional attractor and is considered to help create a destination justifying the 
increased street presence. The use of dark grey brick panels on the side flanks 
of the building on the front elevation is considered to help assimilate the building 
further into the run of continuous frontages, giving a contextual nod to the 
materials of the conservation area. 

Page 24



 
87. It is also advised that the use of metal sheeting is a legitimate choice in 

appropriate locations; the rear elevation for instance forms part of a service yard 
arrangement and therefore sits relatively well concealed and appropriately in 
this location. It also reflects historic uses of lighter materials in rear wings along 
Newgate Street servicing the principal frontages along with modern 
interventions such as the Spanish Gallery fly tower.  
 

88. The rear elevation in effect proposes a lean to roof, which would double as an 
acoustic screen from the roof terrace and including staff and plant rooms. The 
appearance of this element is not considered to cause any harm in the context 
of the rear elevation and service yard arrangement. 
 

89. Although the design rational is considered sound and has been executed well, 
it is still concluded, particularly through the loss of the existing building on site, 
that the development would lead to some harm to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area. This level of harm is categorised as less 
than substantial and is required to be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposals.  
 

90. In terms of Archology there is a general presumption under CDP Policy 44 that 
archaeological features are retained, and where a balanced judgement 
concludes that preservation in situ should not be pursued, it will be a 
requirement that they are recorded with the results fully analysed and made 
publicly available. This is in line with NPPF Paragraph 203. 
 

91. In this respect, acknowledging the benefits of redeveloping the site, Historic 
England and the Heritage Action Zone Officer have both advised that the 
building to be demolished should be recorded. In this regard Historic England 
have recommended a level 3 historic building survey and recording prior to the 
demolition of the building, with the information to be subsequently deposited in 
the Historic Environment Records (HER). Accordingly, a condition is 
recommended to secure this. 
 

92.  In conclusion, the main impact on significance comes from the loss of historic 
fabric in the standing building and the impact of the new development on the 
character, appearance, and significance of the surrounding Conservation Area. 
It is considered that the revised elevations of the development ensure the 
delivery of a high-quality modern intervention, a condition is recommended to 
secure appropriate recording of the standing fabric. Nevertheless, the residual 
harm is classed as less than substantial. Relevant planning policies within the 
CDP and NPPF require this level of harm to be weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal. These benefits are highlighted above, including the 
development of a gap site, provision of employment opportunities and the 
formation of a new visitor destination within the town centre that would enhance 
its vitality and viability. Overall, it is considered that these benefits outweigh the 
less than substantial harm to the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area, and the development would therefore accord with CDP Policy 44, Part 12 
of the NPPF and section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990. 
 

Residential Amenity 

Page 25



 
93.  Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF require that a good standard of amenity for existing 

and future users be ensured, whilst seeking to prevent both new and existing 
development from contributing to, or being put at unacceptable risk from, 
unacceptable levels of pollution. 

 
94.  CDP Policy 31 states that all new development that has the potential to lead to, 

or be affected by, unacceptable levels of air quality, inappropriate odours and 
vibration or other sources of pollution, either individually or cumulatively, will not 
be permitted including where any identified mitigation cannot reduce the impact 
on the environment, amenity of people or human health to an acceptable level.  

 
95.  Where a proposed use is considered locationally acceptable in principle, 

consideration needs to be given to the impact that the development would have. 
It is important to recognise that drinking establishment and venue for live music 
performances and events can give rise to noise and disturbance which could 
have an impact on the amenity of existing and future occupiers of adjoining 
properties and other properties in the immediate area, principally those in 
residential use. Uses such as restaurants, public houses, music venues and 
takeaways may detrimentally affect the locality of an area, through disturbance 
caused at times when residents want to enjoy peace and quiet. At these times, 
nuisance may be caused by the business itself (e.g., noise from the venue) and 
also from customers/patrons congregating outside. These considerations also 
need to be examined in the context of CDP Policy 31 above.  

 
96.  60 Kingsway is the closest sensitive receptor to the application site located 

approximately 10.5m away to the east. It is occupied by Auckland Home 
Solutions Housing Association which is a supported living accommodation 
comprising 18no. flats. The next closest sensitive receptors are located on 
Regent Street approximately 85m away to the south east, and The Dell.  

 
97.  The application is supported by a Noise Impact Assessment which identifies 

that acceptable noise levels would be exceeded at 60 Kingsway, but not at 
Regent Street or The Dell, and a mitigation scheme is therefore required. The 
Assessment recommends mitigation in the form of the installation of a 
continuous 2.4m high acoustic barrier on top of the 3rd floor between the roof 
terrace and back of house rooms, with opening hours proposed to be 7am-2am 
7 days a week, and with the capacity of the roof terrace and the external first 
floor terrace restricted after 11pm.  

 
98.  Environmental Health Officers (EHO) have reviewed the Assessment and 

advised that their main concerns are in relation to noise generated from both 
the roof top and external terraces and the impact of this upon the occupants of 
60 Kingsway to the rear given the opening hours. While the submitted report 
suggests that relevant noise levels can be achieved, this would not guarantee 
inaudibility to residents especially during late evening/early morning hours. 
Environmental Health advise that they have historically received, investigated, 
and served noise abatement notices on garden/yard areas serving licenced 
premises, which back onto residential housing. As a result, EHO have 
recommended that the use of the second floor roof terrace and first floor roof 
terrace be restricted until 11pm, with no patrons to occupy these areas after this 
time, which is in line with licensing restrictions which have already been agreed 

Page 26



with the applicant. A condition is recommended to secure adherence to these 
opening hours. They also recommend that all deliveries into the rear of the 
property shall be restricted from 8am to 7pm, as well as a condition to ensure 
noise generated from plant does not exceed specified levels with the operator 
to provide a report demonstrating compliance with these upon request. 

 
99.  In terms of odours, the food units have the potential to generate smells and the 

applicant has indicated their intention refine the means of extraction for the 
development. Accordingly, a condition is recommended to secure further details 
prior to the first use of the development, this would secure the efficiency and 
noise levels of abatement measures where appropriate.  

 
100.  External lighting is proposed to consist of entrance area lighting and illuminated 

signage, wall mounted bulkhead lighting to the roof terrace, and LED festoon 
lighting above seating areas. All lighting is to be time controlled with solar 
adjustable timeclocks provided to operate lighting only when required from dusk 
until closing, with a manual facility to override this if required. EHO have 
reviewed the submitted Lighting Assessment and recommend a condition to 
secure details of a light spillage plan to protect the amenity of the occupants of 
60 Kingsway. 

 
101.  The application is supported by an Air Quality Statement which evidences the 

highly sustainable location of the site with sustainable modes of transport on 
the form of rail, bus, walking and cycling. EHO have considered that the location 
is well served by public transport and provision for cycle storage is made and 
note that the submitted Service Management Plan indicates that the number of 
vehicle trips associated with deliveries will be under the Institute of Air Quality 
Management (IAQM) threshold. Therefore, they raise no concerns over the 
impact of the development on air quality. They do however request further 
details in the form of a dust management plan relating to the construction phase 
and a condition is recommended in this regard. 

 
102.  The separation distance between the front elevation of the proposed 

development and the buildings opposite is 11m, below the typically required 
24m between habitable room windows within three storey buildings. However, 
there are limited residential uses on Newgate Street in the form of living above 
the shops and this is the case for the properties opposite. Therefore, the 
proposal is not considered to result in a loss of privacy or to have a visually 
dominant or overbearing impact that would adversely affect the amenity of 
nearby residents that would be out of place given the established 
arrangements. 
 

103. In terms of disturbance and antisocial behaviour, the police raise no objections 
to the scheme but highlight the need for CCTV and appropriate management 
policies. These are considered more operational matters that the licensing 
regime would control. As above, it is noted that the development has secured 
an entertainment and alcohol licence which addresses such matters.  

 
104.   Overall, subject to conditions, the proposals are not considered to adversely 

affect residential amenity or living conditions, in accordance with CDP Policy 31 
and Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF. 
 

Page 27



Highway Safety  
 

105.  CDP Policy 21 requires all developments to deliver sustainable transport by 
providing appropriate, well designed, permeable, and direct routes for walking, 
cycling and bus access, so that new developments clearly link to existing 
services and facilities together with existing routes for the convenience of all 
users. Development should not be prejudicial to highway safety or have a 
severe cumulative impact on network capacity. 

 
106.  CDP Policy 29 also requires that major development proposals provide 

convenient access for all users whilst prioritising the needs of pedestrians, 
cyclists, public transport users, people with a range of disabilities, and 
emergency and service vehicles whilst ensuring that connections are made to 
existing cycle and pedestrian networks. 

 
107.  NPPF Paragraph 105 advises that significant development should be focused 

on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need 
to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. NPPF Paragraph 
110 states that appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport 
modes should be taken, whilst Paragraph 112 amongst its advice seeks to 
facilitate access to high quality public transport. In addition, NPPF Paragraph 
111 states that development should only be refused on transport grounds where 
the residual cumulative impacts on development are severe. 

 
108.  The application site is located in a highly sustainable location within Bishop 

Auckland town centre. The site is within 800m of the bus station to the west and 
1km of the train station to the south and there are good links for pedestrians 
and cyclists to access the site. There are also various public car parks nearby.  

 
109.  The Council’s Parking and Accessibility Standards 2019 set out that 

pubs/restaurants in town centre locations should have one cycle storage space 
per every 5 staff members. The applicant has stated that the development 
would be run by 54 equivalent full-time employees which equates to a need to 
store 11no. bicycles. The proposed site plan shows the provision of 6no. cycle 
storage hoops which are able to serve 12no. bicycles, according with this 
requirement. The cycle storage area would be covered by the first floor above, 
allowing use in inclement weather. A condition is recommended to secure the 
installation and retention of the cycle storage prior to the first use of the 
development. 

 
110.  The site is proposed to be serviced from the rear via an unadopted road 

accessed from the C130 Kingsway Road. Highways Officers have reviewed the 
submitted Service Management Plan which they consider satisfactorily 
identifies the method and frequency of refuse collection and servicing 
operations, and also confirms there will be no deliveries made to the front of the 
venue via Newgate Street. Adequate secure refuse storage is proposed to the 
rear of the new building which can be safely accessed for collection.  

 
111.  The application is supported by an Outline Construction Management Plan 

which clearly identifies the constraints the successful contractor will be required 
to adhere to for the safe construction operations and working/delivery times. 

Page 28



Highways Officers have recommended a condition to secure the submission of 
a final Construction Management Plan prior to the commencement of works. 

 
112.  Overall, the site represents a highly sustainable location, and the proposals are 

not considered to adversely affect highway or pedestrian safety, according with 
CDP Policy 21 and 29 and Part 9 of the NPPF. 

 
Drainage 
 
113.  Part 14 of the NPPF seeks to resist inappropriate development in areas at risk 

of flooding, directing development away from areas at highest risk (whether 
existing or future). Where development is necessary in such areas, the 
development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere. NPPF Paragraph 167 advises that when determining planning 
applications, Local Planning Authorities should ensure that flood risk is not 
increased elsewhere and that where appropriate applications should be 
supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment. Paragraph 169 goes on to 
advise that major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage 
systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. 

 
114.  CDP Policies 35 and 36 relate to flood water management and infrastructure. 

Policy 35 requires development proposals to consider the effects of the scheme 
on flood risk and ensure that it incorporates a Sustainable Drainage System 
(SUDs) to manage surface water drainage. Development should not have an 
adverse impact on water quality. Policy 36 seeks to ensure that suitable 
arrangements are made for the disposal of foul water.  

 
115.  Part c) of Policy 35 states that all development proposals will be required to 

consider the effect of the proposed development on flood risk, both on-site and 
off-site, commensurate with the scale and impact of the development and taking 
into account the predicted impacts of climate change for the lifetime of the 
proposal. Development will not be permitted unless it can be proven through a 
Flood Risk Assessment that the development, including the access, will be safe, 
without increasing or exacerbating flood risk elsewhere, any residual risk can 
be safely managed and where possible will reduce flood risk overall. 

 
116.  CDP Policy 35 at part e) sets out that the development of previously developed 

land, as close as practicable to a greenfield surface water runoff rate must be 
achieved. In exceptional cases where the developer can satisfactorily 
demonstrate that greenfield run-off rates are unachievable, a betterment rate 
(which should be a minimum of 50% of the existing site run-off rate) will be 
agreed with the Council. Surface water run-off must be managed at source 
wherever possible and disposed of in the following order: 

 
1. to an infiltration or soak away system. 
2. to a watercourse open or closed. 
3. to a surface water sewer. 
4. to a combined sewer. 

 
117.  The application is supported by a Foul Water Sewage and Surface Water 

Drainage Statement. The site does not lie within a Flood Zone or within an area 
at risk of surface water or ground water flooding. The proposals involve the 

Page 29



erection of a new building to replace an existing building to be demolished and 
a previously collapsed building within the town centre. Consequently, the 
proposals would not lead to an increase in impermeable area and the site's 
surface water discharge rates are anticipated to be maintained as existing. 

 
118.  The Council’s Drainage Section advise in the absence of any direct connection 

to a watercourse, in order to meet the requirements of Policy 35 e), flow 
restriction would be required to limit the proposed site's storm water runoff to 
that of a greenfield site before connecting to the sewer network. The applicant’s 
drainage consultants have explored this issue and have advised that this would 
require approximately 37 - 57m3 of storm water attenuation. In order to achieve 
this, given the ground conditions, an attenuation tank would have to be installed 
underneath the building. The applicant’s drainage consultants have explained 
that the tank would need to be routinely inspected, cleaned, and repaired as 
required and that having no external access to the tank would result in 
maintenance difficulties, with any flood exceedance occurring internally. The 
applicant has also highlighted the implications of the viability of this requirement 
on the development as a whole and consequently, they have concluded that 
attenuation cannot be accommodated within the development. As a result of 
this the development would not conform to the requirements of CDP Policy 35.  
 

119. In considering this matter, it is acknowledged that given the historical use of the 
site, the proposed development would not increase the extent of impermeable 
areas. The site represents a town centre location that has historically 
accommodated buildings up to its boundaries which currently discharge 
unrestricted into the nearby sewer system. A significant increase in flood risk 
over the existing situation is therefore not expected to arise. Nevertheless, this 
policy conflict needs to be acknowledged and weighed in the planning balance 
against other material considerations.  

 
120.  Foul water is proposed to be discharged to the combined water drainage 

system network within the site, which accords with the hierarchy of preference 
set out by CDP Policy 36. Northumbrian Water raise no objections to the 
development.  

 
Ecology 
 
121.  NPPF Paragraph 179 b) seeks to promote the conservation, restoration and 

enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the protection and 
recovery of priority species; and identify and pursue opportunities for securing 
measurable net gains for biodiversity. Paragraph 180 d) goes on to advise that 
opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments should be 
integrated as part of their design, especially where this can secure measurable 
net gains for biodiversity or enhance public access to nature where this is 
appropriate. In line with this, CDP Policy 41 seeks to secure net gains for 
biodiversity and coherent ecological networks.  

 
122.  CDP Policy 43 relates to protected species and their habitats. It is stated that 

all development which, alone or in combination, has a likely adverse impact on 
the ability of species to survive, reproduce and maintain or expand their current 
distribution will not be permitted unless appropriate mitigation, or as a last resort 
compensation, can be provided, which maintains a viable population and where 

Page 30



possible provides opportunities for the population to expand; and where the 
species is a European protected species, the proposal also meets the licensing 
criteria (the 3 legal tests) of overriding public interest, no satisfactory alternative 
and favourable conservation status. 

 
123.  The application is supported by a Bat Survey Report which found there to be a 

low level of bat activity during the survey and therefore the development would 
have a low risk to bat populations The Council’s Ecologist concurs with this 
conclusion due to location of the building to be demolished being surrounded 
by hardstanding/built up area. However, they requested that a bird and bat box 
be shown on the proposed plans to deliver net gains in biodiversity. A revised 
proposed elevation drawing has been submitted and the Council’s Ecologist 
has confirmed their satisfaction with this. A condition is recommended to secure 
the installation of the boxes. No other protected species or habitats are 
considered to be affected by the proposals. 

 
124.  Overall, the proposals are not considered to adversely affect any protected 

species or their habitats and would deliver some biodiversity net gain. The 
development accords with CDP Policy 41 and 43 and Part 15 of the NPPF in 
this respect 

 
Ground Conditions 
 
125.  CDP Policy 32 requires sites to be suitable for use taking into account 

contamination and unstable land issues. Paragraph 183 of the NPPF requires 
sites to be suitable for their proposed use taking account of ground conditions 
and any risks arising from land instability and contamination.  

 
126.  The application is supported by a Phase 1 Desk Top Study Report and a Mining 

Risk Assessment. 
 
127.  The applicant has provided a revised Phase 1 Desk Study which contains 

historical mine abandonment plans which indicate there are no workings 
extending below the site. The report concludes that given the local information, 
the thickness of the superficial deposits, and that there are no records of 
historical workings on the abandonment plans, it is unlikely that the site is at 
risk of historical shallow mining activity. The Coal Authority have reviewed this 
information and confirmed they have no objections to the proposed 
development. 

 
128.  The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has also reviewed the submitted 

information and confirmed the need for further site intrusive investigations, to 
be secured via pre-commencement conditions. 

 
129.  Subject to the recommended conditions, the proposals are considered to 

comply with CDP Policy 32 and NPPF Paragraph 183. 
 
Sustainability 
 
130.  CDP Policy 29 sets out that all major new non-residential development will be 

required to achieve Building Research Establishment Environmental 
Assessment Method (BREEAM) minimum rating of ‘very good’. In addition, 

Page 31



criterion c) of Policy 29 requires all development to minimise greenhouse gas 
emissions, by seeking to achieve zero carbon buildings and providing 
renewable and low carbon energy generation.  

 
131.  Policy 29 also requires all development to minimise the use of non-renewable 

and unsustainable resources, including energy, water and materials, during 
both construction and use by encouraging waste reduction and appropriate 
reuse and recycling of materials, including appropriate storage space and 
segregation facilities for recyclable and non-recyclable waste and prioritising 
the use of local materials. 

 
132.  The application is supported by an Energy and Sustainability Strategy and a 

BREEAM Pre-assessment and Strategy. 
 
133.   The BREEAM Pre-assessment and Strategy sets out a route to BREEAM 

certification for the project and provides an indication of scoring and 
opportunities for achieving BREEAM as ‘Very Good’ A scoring scenario has 
been outlined within the submitted report, which demonstrates that, if supported 
by relevant and appropriate documentary evidence, the proposed development 
would result in the ‘Very Good’ achievement. It is envisaged that measures such 
as the monitoring of water, energy consumption and CO2 emissions during 
construction; the testing and inspection of building fabric; the building to be 
suitably air conditioned / naturally ventilated; the level of emissions generated 
by heating and hot water; external terrace areas to be non-smoking; and 
ecological enhancements would be adopted.  

 
134.   In summary, it has been demonstrated that the scheme could achieve a ‘Very 

Good’ BREEAM rating provided that appropriate measures are taken. 
Therefore, a condition is recommended to ensure these measures are 
undertaken and to secure a verification report to confirm compliance.  

 
135.  The Sustainability Strategy states sets out the aim to utilise air source heat 

pumps for the provision of renewable heating for the development. Other 
carbon reduction measures would include solar shading where appropriate to 
reduce any unwanted heat gains; low energy lighting (LEDs) throughout; and 
efficient fans and pumps. The Statement confirms that a detailed strategy would 
be developed at the post-planning design stage which will fully address the 
provision of energy and how CO2 emissions will be reduced. Accordingly, a 
condition is recommended to secure these details. 

 
136.  Subject to conditions, the proposals are considered to accord with the 

sustainability aims of CDP Policy 29. 
 

CONCLUSION 

 
137.  Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 

determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. NPPF Paragraph 12 states that where a 
planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan (including 
any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan), permission 
should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take decisions 

Page 32



that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material 
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed. 

 
138.  In this instance, the site lies within the Primary Shopping Area of Bishop 

Auckland Town Centre and the proposals would see the introduction of a 
landmark mixed use development to be ran by an established regional operator 
that will bring a vacant site back into use. The town centre currently has a high 
vacancy rate, and the re-development of the site would help to enhance its 
vitality and viability in line with the aims of the Bishop Auckland Regeneration 
Town Centre Masterplan. The development is also expected to hire 54 full-time 
equivalent employees. Therefore, the proposals draw significant support from 
CDP Policy 9. 

 
139.  It is identified that the proposals would result in the loss of some historic fabric 

through the demolition of the remaining building on site, which is considered to 
have a low but some significance in the context of the wider conservation area. 
Overall, Officers are satisfied with the scale, massing and materiality of the 
development, but recognise the harm arising from the industrial appearance of 
the building. However, this identified harm, characterised as less than 
substantial, is considered to be outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme 
as identified above. The proposals are therefore considered to accord with CDP 
Policy 44, Part 12 of the NPPF and section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 
140.  Subject to conditions to secure acoustic and a range of other mitigation 

measures to safeguard the amenity of the occupants of the supporting living 
flats at 60 Kingsway, the development would accord with CDP Policy 31.  
 

141. The site represents a highly sustainable location accessible by a range of public 
transport modes The proposals would not adversely affect protected species or 
their habitats and would deliver some biodiversity net gain through the 
installation of a bat and bird box. Conditions are recommended to secure 
intrusive site investigations. The application demonstrates that a ‘very good’ 
BREEAM rating is achievable and outlines a scheme to minimise carbon 
emissions including the use of air source heat pumps. Conditions are 
recommended to secure further details and verification, according with CDP 
Policy 29. 
 

142. Surface water flow would not be attenuated to greenfield run off rates (plus 
climate change) and therefore the development would conflict with the aims of 
CDP Policy 35. However, recognising that the proposals would not increase the 
extent of impermeable area, the conflict CDP Policy 35 is in this instance 
considered to be outweighed by the substantial benefits of the proposal in the 
planning balance.  

 
143.  Overall, the scheme is considered to bring substantial benefits to Bishop 

Auckland and to support the aims of the Bishop Auckland Town Centre 
Masterplan, and in the round would comply with relevant policies of the County 
Durham Plan. There are no material considerations which indicate otherwise 
and therefore the application is recommended for approval.  
 

Public Sector Equality Duty  

Page 33



 
144. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires public authorities when exercising 

their functions to have due regard to the need to i) the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct, ii) 
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and iii) foster good 
relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share that characteristic.  
 

145. In this instance, officers have assessed all relevant factors and do not consider 
that there are any equality impacts identified. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION  
 

That the application be APPROVED  subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.   
 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance 

with the following approved plans: 

 
Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of 
development is obtained in accordance with Policy 9, 21, 29, 31, 32, 35, 36, 
41, 43 and 44 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 2, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 
14, 15 and 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. No development other than remedial or site investigation work shall 

commence until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Construction 
Management Plan shall include as a minimum but not necessarily be restricted 
to the following:    

  
1. A Dust Action Plan including measures to control the emission of dust and 

dirt during construction. 
2. Details of methods and means of noise reduction/suppression.  

 
Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
Proposed Sections A-B 
Proposed West and East Elevations 
Level 3 Roof Plan General Arrangement 
Proposed First Floor Plan 
Proposed Second Floor Plan 
Site Location Plan 
Site Plan 
 

 
P0-[23]-100-PL2 
SE-[22]-300-PL2 
EL-[21]-200-PL5 
P3-[27]-106-PL2 
P0-[23]-101-PL1 
P0-[23]-102-PL1 
P0-[90]-001-PL1 
P0-[90]-002-PL1 
 

 
20/02/23 
03/03/23 
03/03/23 
03/03/23 
06/01/23 
06/01/23 
06/01/23 
06/01/23 
 

Page 34



3. Where construction involves penetrative piling, details of methods for 
piling of foundations including measures to suppress any associated noise 
and vibration.  

4. Details of measures to prevent mud and other such material migrating 
onto the highway from all vehicles entering and leaving the site.   

5. Designation, layout and design of construction access and egress points. 
6. Details for the provision of directional signage (on and off site).   
7. Details of contractors' compounds, materials storage and other storage 

arrangements, including cranes and plant, equipment and related 
temporary infrastructure.   

8. Details of provision for all site operatives for the loading and unloading of 
plant, machinery and materials.   

9. Details of provision for all site operatives, including visitors and 
construction vehicles for parking and turning within the site during the 
construction period.   

10. Routing agreements for construction traffic.  
11. Details of the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 

decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate.  
12. Waste audit and scheme for waste minimisation and recycling/disposing 

of waste resulting from demolition and construction works.  
13. Management measures for the control of pest species as a result of 

demolition and/or construction works. 
14. Detail of measures for liaison with the local community and procedures to 

deal with any complaints received.  
 
The management strategy shall have regard to BS 5228 "Noise and Vibration 
Control on Construction and Open Sites" during the planning and 
implementation of site activities and operations.   
 
The approved Construction Management Plan shall also be adhered to 
throughout the construction period and the approved measures shall be 
retained for the duration of the construction works.   
 
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of existing and future residents 
from the development in accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham 
Plan and Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Required to be 
pre commencement to ensure that the whole construction phase is undertaken 
in an acceptable way. 

 
4. No development other than demolition, remedial or site investigation work 

shall commence until a land contamination scheme has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted scheme 
shall be compliant with the YALPAG guidance and include a Phase 2 site 
investigation. The Phase 2 shall include a sampling and analysis plan. If the 
Phase 2 identifies any unacceptable risks, a Phase 3 remediation strategy 
shall be produced and where necessary include gas protection measures and 
method of verification. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the presence of contamination is identified, risk 
assessed and proposed remediation works are agreed in order to ensure the 
site suitable for use, in accordance with Policy 32 of the County Durham Plan 
and Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Page 35



  
5. Remediation works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

remediation strategy. The development shall not be brought into use until such 
time a Phase 4 Verification report related to that part of the development has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the remediation works are fully implemented as 
agreed and the site is suitable for use, in accordance with Policy 32 of the 
County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. Prior to the first beneficial occupation of the development, details of a scheme 

building upon the principles set out in the Energy and Sustainability Strategy 
Revision B by JS Lewis Ltd dated January 2023 shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include, 
but not be limited to, provision of renewable energy generation, low energy 
lighting, and energy efficient plant. Thereafter, the renewable and low carbon 
energy measures shall be installed in accordance with the approved details 
and retained for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To comply with requirements to minimise greenhouse gas emissions 
in line with details set out in Policy 29c) of the County Durham Plan and Part 
2 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

7. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the actions 
contained within Appendix A of the BREEAM Pre-Assessment and Strategy 
by Carbon Consults dated 01.02.2023. Prior to the first beneficial use of the 
development a verification report compiled by a suitably competent person 
demonstrating that the development has achieve a minimum of a 'Very Good' 
BREEAM rating shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.    
 
Reason: To ensure the development complies with the requirements of Policy 
29 of the County Durham Plan. 
 

8. The second floor roof top seating area and first floor external terrace shall not 
be made available for use until the 2.4m high acoustic barrier recommended 
in the Noise Impact Assessment Revision A by Apex Acoustics dated 
February 13th 2023 and shown on plan SE-[22]-300 PL2 has been 
constructed. Prior to the construction of the acoustic barrier and the 
associated pitched roof, details of the make and a sample of the proposed 
external materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in accordance with 
the approved details and retained for the lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of surrounding properties 
and the character and appearance of the surrounding conservation area in 
accordance with Policy 29, 31, and 44 of the County Durham Plan and Part 
12, 15 and 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9. The rating level of noise emitted from fixed plant/machinery on the site shall 

not exceed the background (LA90) by more than 5dB LAeq (1 hour) between 
07.00-23.00 and 0dB LAeq (15 mins) between 23.00-07.00. The 

Page 36



measurement and assessment shall be made according to BS 4142: 
2014+A1: 2019. On written request by the planning authority the operator 
shall, within 28 days, produce a report to demonstrate adherence with the 
above rating level. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of surrounding properties in 
accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

10. The development shall not be brought into use until a scheme to control the 
emission of fumes and smell from the premises has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All equipment detailed as 
part of the approved scheme shall thereafter be retained, operated and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details so long as the use 
continues. 
 
Reason: In the interest of the amenities of neighbouring properties in 
accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

11. No external lighting shall be installed until a lighting spillage plan to 
demonstrate the predicted lighting levels at the surrounding properties has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The detail provided shall demonstrate adherence to the ILP guidance notes 
for the reduction of intrusive light. Thereafter, the external lighting shall be 
erected and maintained in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to minimise light spillage and glare on nearby properties, in 
accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Local Plan and 
Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

12. The premises shall not be open to customers outside the hours of 7am to 2am 
on any day of the week. The second floor roof top seating/terrace area and 
first floor external seating/terrace shall be closed at 11pm and no patrons shall 
occupy these areas between the hours of 11pm and 7am.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of surrounding properties in 
accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

13. No deliveries to or collection of waste from the rear of the premises shall take 
place outside the hours of 8am to 7pm. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of surrounding properties in 
accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

14. The bat and bird box shown on the West and East Elevations As Proposed 
EL-[21]-200 Revision PL3 drawing shall be installed prior to the first beneficial 
use of the development proposed. Thereafter, the bat and bird box shall be 
retained for the lifetime of the development. 
 

Page 37



Reason: To provide net gains in biodiversity in accordance with Policy 41 of 
the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

15. The cycle storage shown on Proposed Ground Floor Plan P0-[23]-100-PL2 
shall be installed prior to the first beneficial use of the development proposed. 
Thereafter, the cycle storage shall be retained for the lifetime of the 
development. 
 
Reason: To provide cycle storage for staff in accordance with Policy 21 of the 
County Durham Plan and the Council's Parking and Accessibility Standards 
2019. 
 

16. A Written Scheme of Investigation setting out the scope of building recording 
work in accordance with the advice set out in Understanding Historic 
Buildings: A guide to good recording practice’ by Historic England shall be 
prepared by a suitably qualified professional and submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any 
development. Thereafter the programme of recording the building shall be 
carried out in accordance with the agreed scope. The programme shall 
include: 
 
i. A methodology comprising plans of the building to indicate the location and 
direction of photographs taken, 
ii. A list of all staff involved in the implementation of the strategy, including sub-
contractors and specialists, their responsibilities and qualifications. 
 
The development shall then be carried out in full accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: To comply with Policy 44 of the County Durham Plan and paragraph 
205 of the National Planning Policy Framework, which requires the developer 
to record and advance understanding of the significance of heritage assets, 
and to ensure information gathered becomes publicly accessible. 

 
17. Prior to the development first being beneficially occupied, a copy of the 

programme of building recording work shall be deposited at the County 
Durham Historic Environment Record. 
 
Reason: To comply with Policy 44 of the County Durham Plan and Part 16 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework, which requires the developer to 
record and advance understanding of the significance of heritage assets, and 
to ensure information gathered becomes publicly accessible. 
 

18. Prior to the installation of the dark grey brickwork to either side of the front 
elevation of the new building, details of the make, texture and a sample of the 
proposed external materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
 

Page 38



Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the surrounding 
conservation area in accordance with Policy 44 of the County Durham Plan 
and Part 12 and 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT 

 
In accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has, 
without prejudice to a fair and objective assessment of the proposals, issues raised 
and representations received, sought to work with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive manner with the objective of delivering high quality sustainable development 
to improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area in 
accordance with the NPPF. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Submitted Application Forms, Plans and supporting documents 
National Planning Policy Framework 
The County Durham Plan (CDP) 
Residential Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2020 
Statutory consultation responses 
Internal consultation responses 
External consultation responses 
The Bishop Auckland Regeneration Town Centre Masterplan (2019) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

  

 
Planning Services  
 

Demolition of building and structures 
and the erection of a mixed use 
building comprising uses within Use 
Class E 'Commercial, Business and 
Service' and Sui Generis 'Drinking 
Establishments and Venues for Live 
Music Performances and Events' with 
ancillary facilities, provision of a roof-
top terrace with external seating and 
associated facilities 

 

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of 
Her majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown copyright.  
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright 
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceeding.  
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 2005  

 

Comments   

Date: 14th March  

Page 40



  
   

Planning Services 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

APPLICATION DETAILS 
 

Application No:    DM/21/00749/FPA 
 
Full Application Description: Change of use of land to facilitate the siting 

of 18no. static caravans for holiday use, 
camping and a 16. touring caravan site; 
formation of permeable hardstanding and 
access tracks; siting of amenities block; 
installation of foul drainage facilities; 
associated landscaping and planting; and 
manager's accommodation (part 
retrospective) 

 
Name of Applicant: Mr Will Price 
 
Address: Meadow Farm Caravan Park Ramshaw 

Lane Ramshaw Bishop Auckland DL14 0NB 
 
Electoral Division:    Evenwood 
 
Case Officer: Steven Pilkington (Interim South West 

Team Leader) 
      Tel: 03000 263 964 
      Email: steven.pilkington@durham.gov.uk 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSAL 

 
The Site 
 
1.  The application site comprises a rectangular shaped parcel of land measuring 

approximately 1.55ha in area, located to the northeast of the village of 
Ramshaw, to the west of the County. The site has planning permission to 
operate as a camping and touring caravan site. 
 

2. The site directly borders Ramshaw Lane to the West, beyond which open 
agricultural fields and the open countryside are located. To the north of the site 
lies an access track leading to Sandbed Farm, beyond which Norton Fine Beck 
and associated vegetation are located. To the east of the site lies agricultural 
style buildings and agricultural fields associated with Sandbed Farm. To the 
south of the site lies open countryside and agricultural fields.  
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5b



3. A close boarded boundary fence forms the northern and eastern site 
boundaries, while to the south and west hedgerows enclose the site. There is 
a level change across the site with the land generally falling in a north easterly 
direction towards Norton Fine Beck and Sandbed Farm. Access to the site is 
provided from the highway Ramshaw Lane through an established vehicular 
access, leading to an established area of hardstanding on the site.  
 

The Proposal 
 

4.  Planning permission is sought for the formation of a 18no. pitch static caravan 
site, a 16no. pitch touring caravan site and a camping site to be used for holiday 
purposes. Associated infrastructure, including hardstanding’s, foul and surface 
drainage are proposed, along with amenity and reception cabins/structures. 
Planning permission is also sought for the use as part of the site as a manager’s 
accommodation through the siting of a specific caravan.  
 

5. The application is considered on a part retrospective basis, with 6 static 
caravans already sited on areas of hardstanding (beyond that permitted by a 
previous approval). A reception unit and amenities cabins have also been sited 
towards the northern portion of the site. A caravan used as manager’s 
accommodation has also been positioned towards the southern portion of the 
site where the applicant currently resides.   
 

6. The submitted plans set out that the static caravans would be sited on individual 
plots, positioned to the northern portion of the site with access tracks leading to 
these individual plots. The touring caravan plots would be positioned to the 
midpoint of the site, adjacent to the western site boundary, with an overspill 
area proposed to the north-eastern corner of the site. Along the northern site 
boundary, it is proposed that a reception and amenities cabin, along with a 
second amenity cabin would be retained.  The submitted plans indicate the 
retention of the manager’s accommodation unit and an associated compound. 
A camping area is proposed towards the southern boundary of the site.  
 

7. It is proposed that foul drainage from the site would be treated by an 
underground package treatment plant, located towards to the northern site 
boundary. This would them be pumped, in combination with surface water 
discharge, into an adjacent highway gulley. Before being discharged, the 
surface water would be attenuated in a drainage swale again located to the 
northern boundary of the site.  
 

8. The current appearance of the static caravans on site varies, some with a 
painted aluminium finish, others are clad in dark stained waney edge timber 
cladding. This cladding has also been applied to the reception and amenity 
units.  Parking spaces would be provided adjacent to each static and touring 
caravan plot. A landscaping plan indicates that areas of native tree, scrub and 
hedge planting would be planted across the site.  
 

9.  The application is being reported to planning committee as it constitutes a major 
development exceeding 1ha in area.  
 
 
 

Page 42



PLANNING HISTORY 

 
10.  Planning permission was granted in November 2015 for the change of use of 

land to form a camping and touring caravan site, erection of amenity building 
and formation of hardstanding. This permission has been implemented and the 
site operates as a camping and touring caravan site. The amenity block sited 
in the north-eastern corner as part of this permission has not been constructed.  
 

11.  Unauthorised development beyond what was permitted in this planning 
approval has been undertaken. As above this includes the siting of 6no. static 
caravans for holiday purposes, a reception and amenities unit. The formation 
of additional hardstanding and level changes on site namely around the north 
eastern corner. The use of the siting of the manager’s accommodation for 
residential purposes by the applicant fails to comply with conditions on the 
original planning approval. This application in part seeks to regularise these 
breaches of planning control.  

 

PLANNING POLICY 
 

National Policy 
 

12.  A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 
2018 (with updates since). The overriding message continues to be that new 
development that is sustainable should go ahead without delay. It defines the 
role of planning in achieving sustainable development under three overarching 
objectives – economic, social and environmental, which are interdependent and 
need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. 
 

13.  NPPF Part 2 Achieving Sustainable Development - The purpose of the planning 
system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and 
therefore at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. It defines the role of planning in achieving sustainable 
development under three overarching objectives - economic, social and 
environmental, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways. The application of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development for plan-making and decision-taking is outlined. 
 

14.  NPPF Part 4 Decision-making - Local planning authorities should approach 
decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way. They should 
use the full range of planning tools available, including brownfield registers and 
permission in principle, and work proactively with applicants to secure 
developments that will improve the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every level should seek to approve 
applications for sustainable development where possible. 
 

15.  NPPF Part 5 Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes - To support the 
Government's objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is 
important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where 
it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are 
addressed and that land with permission is developed without unnecessary 
delay. 
 

Page 43



16.  NPPF Part 6 Building a Strong, Competitive Economy - The Government is 
committed to securing economic growth in order to create jobs and prosperity, 
building on the country's inherent strengths, and to meeting the twin challenges 
of global competition and a low carbon future. 
 

17.  NPPF Part 8 Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities - The planning system 
can play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, 
inclusive communities. Developments should be safe and accessible; Local 
Planning Authorities should plan positively for the provision and use of shared 
space and community facilities. An integrated approach to considering the 
location of housing, economic uses and services should be adopted. 
 

18.  NPPF Part 9 Promoting Sustainable Transport - Encouragement should be 
given to solutions which support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and 
reduce congestion. Developments that generate significant movement should 
be located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable 
transport modes maximised. 
 

19.  NPPF Part 12 Achieving Well-Designed Places - The Government attaches 
great importance to the design of the built environment, with good design a key 
aspect of sustainable development, indivisible from good planning. 
 

20.  NPPF Part 14 Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal 
Change - The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon 
future in a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. 
It should help to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in 
greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; 
encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of existing 
buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure. 
 

21.  NPPF Part 15 Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment - 
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. The Planning System 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation 
interests, recognising the wider benefits of ecosystems, minimising the impacts 
on biodiversity, preventing both new and existing development from 
contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from Page 73 pollution and 
land stability and remediating contaminated or other degraded land where 
appropriate. 
 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework 

 
National Planning Practice Guidance: 

 
22. The Government has consolidated a number of planning practice guidance 

notes, circulars and other guidance documents into a single Planning Practice 
Guidance Suite. This document provides planning guidance on a wide range of 
matters. Of particular relevance to this application is the practice guidance with 
regards to; design process and tools; determining a planning application; flood 
risk; healthy and safe communities; land affected by contamination; natural 
environment; noise; use of planning conditions; and; water supply, wastewater 
and water quality. 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework


 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  

 
Local Plan Policy: 
 
The County Durham Plan (CDP) 
 
23.   Policy 8 (Visitor Accommodation) sets out that new visitor accommodation or 

extensions to existing visitor accommodation will be supported where it is 
appropiate for the scale and character of the area and is not used for permanent 
residential accommodation. The policy sets out that proposals will be supported 
where they meet identified visitor need, is an extension to existing visitor 
accommodation and helps support the future business, it respects the character 
of the countryside and it demonstrates clear opportunities to make it location 
more sustainable. Proposals for new or extensions to existing chalet, camping 
and caravan site will be supported where they are not unduly prominent in the 
landscape.  
 

24.  Policy 10 (Development in the Countryside) states that development will not be 
permitted unless allowed for by specific policies in the Plan or Neighbourhood 
Plan or unless it relates to exceptions for development necessary to support 
economic development, infrastructure development or development of existing 
buildings. The policy further sets out 9 General Design Principles for all 
development in the Countryside.  
 

25. Policy 12 (Permanent Rural Workers Dwellings) sets out that proposals for new 
rural workers dwellings will be permitted provided it can be demonstrated that, 
there is an existing functional need for a permanent full time worker to live at or 
very close to the site in order for the enterprise to function effectively, the rural 
business has been established for at least three years and is financially sound. 
The functional need could not be fulfilled by another dwelling on the unit or other 
accommodation in the area which is suitable and available for occupation by 
the workers concerned. 
 

26. Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport) requires all development to deliver 
sustainable transport by: delivering, accommodating and facilitating investment 
in sustainable modes of transport; providing appropriate, well designed, 
permeable and direct routes for all modes of transport; ensuring that any 
vehicular traffic generated by new development can be safely accommodated; 
creating new or improvements to existing routes and assessing potential 
increase in risk resulting from new development in vicinity of level crossings. 
Development should have regard to Parking and Accessibility Supplementary 
Planning Document. 
 

27.  Policy 29 (Sustainable Design) requires all development proposals to achieve 
well designed buildings and places having regard to SPD advice and sets out 
18 elements for development to be considered acceptable, 
including: making positive contribution to areas character, identity etc.; 
adaptable buildings; minimising greenhouse gas emissions and use of non-
renewable resources; providing high standards of amenity and privacy; 
contributing to healthy neighbourhoods; and suitable landscape 
proposals. Provision for all new residential development to comply with 
Nationally Described Space Standards, subject to transition period.  

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


 
28.  Policy 31 (Amenity and Pollution) sets out that development will be permitted 

where it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable impact, either 
individually or cumulatively, on health, living or working conditions or the natural 
environment and that they can be integrated effectively with any existing 
business and community facilities. Development will not be permitted where 
inappropriate odours, noise, vibration and other sources of pollution cannot be 
suitably mitigated against, as well as where light pollution is not suitably 
minimised. Permission will not be granted for sensitive land uses near to 
potentially polluting development. Similarly, potentially polluting development 
will not be permitted near sensitive uses unless the effects can be mitigated. 
 

29.  Policy 32 (Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land) 
requires that where development involves such land, any necessary mitigation 
measures to make the site safe for local communities and the environment are 
undertaken prior to the construction or occupation of the proposed development 
and that all necessary assessments are undertaken by a suitably qualified 
person. 
 

30.  Policy 35 (Water Management) requires all development proposals to consider 
the effect of the proposed development on flood risk, both on-site and off-site, 
commensurate with the scale and impact of the development and taking into 
account the predicted impacts of climate change for the lifetime of the proposal. 
All new development must ensure there is no net increase in surface water 
runoff for the lifetime of the development. Amongst its advice, the policy 
advocates the use of SuDS and aims to protect the quality of water. 
 

31.  Policy 36 (Water Infrastructure) advocates a hierarchy of drainage options for 
the disposal of foul water. Applications involving the use of non-mains methods 
of drainage will not be permitted in areas where public sewerage exists. New 
sewage and wastewater infrastructure will be approved unless the adverse 
impacts outweigh the benefits of the infrastructure. Proposals seeking to 
mitigate flooding in appropriate locations will be permitted though flood defence 
infrastructure will only be permitted where it is demonstrated as being the most 
sustainable response to the flood threat. 
 

32.  Policy 39 (Landscape) states that proposals for new development will only be 
permitted where they would not cause unacceptable harm to the character, 
quality or distinctiveness of the landscape, or to important features or views. 
Proposals are expected to incorporate appropriate mitigation measures where 
adverse impacts occur. Development affecting Areas of Higher landscape 
Value will only be permitted where it conserves and enhances the special 
qualities, unless the benefits of the development clearly outweigh its impacts 
 

33.  Policy 40 (Trees, Woodlands and Hedges) states that proposals for new 
development will not be permitted that would result in the loss of, or damage to, 
trees, hedges or woodland of high landscape, amenity or biodiversity value 
unless the benefits of the scheme clearly outweigh the harm. Proposals for new 
development will be expected to retain existing trees and hedges or provide 
suitable replacement planting. The loss or deterioration of ancient woodland will 
require wholly exceptional reasons and appropriate compensation. 
 

Page 46



34.  Policy 41 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) states that proposal for new 
development will not be permitted if significant harm to biodiversity or 
geodiversity resulting from the development cannot be avoided, or 
appropriately mitigated, or as a last resort, compensated for. 
 

35.  Policy 43 (Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected Sites) 
development proposals that would adversely impact upon nationally protected 
sites will only be permitted where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts 
whilst adverse impacts upon locally designated sites will only be permitted 
where the benefits outweigh the adverse impacts. Appropriate mitigation or, as 
a last resort, compensation must be provided where adverse impacts are 
expected. In relation to protected species and their habitats, all development 
likely to have an adverse impact on the species’ abilities to survive and maintain 
their distribution will not be permitted unless appropriate mitigation is provided 
or the proposal meets licensing criteria in relation to European protected 
species. 
 

36. Policy 56 – Safeguarding Mineral Resources – states that planning permission 
will not be granted for non-mineral development that would lead to the 
sterilisation of mineral resources within a Mineral Safeguarding Area. This is 
unless it can be demonstrated that the mineral in the location concerned is no 
longer of any current or potential value, provision can be made for the mineral 
to be extracted satisfactorily prior to the nonminerals development taking place 
without unacceptable adverse impact, the nonminerals development is of a 
temporary nature that does not inhibit extraction or there is an overriding need 
for the non-minerals development which outweighs the need to safeguard the 
mineral or it constitutes exempt development as set out in the Plan. Unless the 
proposal is exempt development or temporary in nature, all planning 
applications for non-mineral development within a Mineral Safeguarding Area 
must be accompanied by a Mineral Assessment of the effect of the proposed 
development on the mineral resource beneath or adjacent to the site of the 
proposed development. 

 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp  

 
Neighbourhood Plan: 

 
37.  The application site is not located within an area where there is a 

Neighbourhood Plan to which regard is to be had. 
 

CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES 

 
Statutory Consultee Responses: 
 
38.  Evenwood and Barony Parish Council – Concerns are raised regarding the 

number of vehicles that will require parking in the 18 bays to serve the chalets 
and caravan park. There is strong potential for cars to spill out onto the highway.  

 
39.  Highways Authority – Raise no objections, but highlight that Conditions 8 

(implementation of visibility splays) and 9 (upgrading of site access) from the 
DM/15/01938 consent will have to be addressed by this application.  
 

Page 47

https://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp


40.  Drainage and Coastal Protection – Advise that whilst the principle of the 
proposed surface water drainage is acceptable, construction details of all the 
SuDS features together with an engineering layout plan identifying levels of the 
drainage infrastructure should be submitted. This could be secured by 
condition.  
 

41. Environment Agency – Offer no objections to the application following 
submission of additional information clarifying that a non mains drainage 
package treatment would be installed. It is however advised that an 
Environmental Permit would need to be secured and that the maximum 
capacity of the site should be limited to that detailed in the non mains drainage 
assessment.  
 

42. Coal Authority – Advise that the site falls within a high risk area associated with 
former coal mining activity and therefore in line with the recommendations of 
the submitted Coal Ming Risk Assessment, instructive site investigation works 
should be undertaken inform whether remedial measures are required. Given 
the part retrospective nature of the application, it is recommended no further 
units are sited unless the required investigations have been carried out.  
 

Non-Statutory Responses: 
 
43.  Landscape Section – Advise that the site does not benefit from year-round 

screening by existing topography, or vegetation as a consequence the 
proposals would cause harm to the character, quality and distinctiveness of the 
local landscape.  It is however recognised that improvements have been made 
to the landscape planting plan will help reduce the visual prominence and 
provide better long-term visual enclosure of some areas of the scheme, 
however until this becomes established (the length of time depending on the 
design, quality and performance of the planting), given the current open 
character of the site, the proposal will still be a notable feature. Notwithstanding 
this, given the topography of the site and its immediate environs, the southern 
sections of the static caravans would not be well screened and therefore there 
will still be residual landscape harm to the character, quality and distinctiveness 
of the landscape from this part of the site due to the current layout.  
 

44.  Ecology – The submitted information has been reviewed and the marginal net 
gain is achievable on site. 
 

45.  Environmental Health Nuisance Protection -  Advise that here is no history of 
complaints relating to impact upon the site users from noise, odour or light. 
However there have been complaints in relation to the escape of sewage from 
the site which can lead to statutory nuisance under section 79(h) of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. It is however advised that the detail 
provided within the application demonstrates that sewage generated on the site 
will be removed by tanker prior to the installation of a comprehensive system, 
provided that this is undertaken by a licensed contractor at regular intervals, it 
is advised there should be no impact on neighbouring amenity. 
 

46. Environmental Health Licencing – Advise that it is a requirement of the Caravan 

Site Licence that there shall be satisfactory provision for foul and waste water 

Page 48



drainage. Concerns are raised regarding the management of foul water from 

the site prior to the installation of a comprehensive sewerage system.  

 
47. Visit County Durham – No comments received   
 
Public Responses: 

 
48.  The application has been advertised by individual notification letters, press and 

site notice. 9 letters of objection and 19 letters of support have been received. 
 

49. The 9 letters of objection are summarised below:- 
 

- The retrospective nature of the application is highlighted, including relating to 
the layout of the site which does not accord with the original approval  
 

- The site generates noise which disturbs local residents, particularly in summer 
months  

 
- The site is considered an eyesore to the local countryside while the 

appearance of the caravans are of a poor appearance. A large unsightly 
vehicle body is visible from Ramshaw Road, while the current surfacing of the 
entrance has a poor appearance.  

 
- To prevent the site being used for permanent residential occupancy it should 

only be open for 10 months a year.  
 

- It is highlighted that there are other static caravan sites within the immediate 
area  
 

- Concerns are raised regarding the cleanliness and safety of the site and 
smells generated from the drainage network.  

 
- Concerns are raised regarding the adequacy of the proposed package 

treatment plant to treat wastewater from the site before being discharged into 
the water course, particularly in times of high demand. The current cess pit is 
of an inadequate size to manage the foul water from the site, this has resulted 
in the capacity being exceeded and foul water passing over the site 
boundaries.  

 
- It is unclear whether approval has been reached to discharge into the water 

course in the highway verge. It is noted that this is dry for much of its length.  
 
- Concerns are raised regarding the attenuation of the surface water on the site, 

detailed specification of the proposed system should be submitted for 
consideration. The current layout and management of surface water results in 
the surface water passing across the site boundaries.  

 
- Concerns are raised regarding the delivery of the proposed landscaping and 

cladding scheme given the tight margins and proximity of units to the boundary 
of the site. 

 

Page 49



- The site levels have been altered in proximity of the site boundaries, this has 
altered the flow of surface water across the site and has resulted in concerns 
in relation to amenity of adjacent sites.  

 
50.  The 19 letters of support are summarised below:- 

 
- The site is an attractive destination and the site owners are welcoming to their 

visitors and the site is popular. 
 

- The site is well run and provides a safe environment for children and wildlife 
is encouraged and nurtured by the site owners 

 
- The options for static caravans would increase the appeal of the site and 

increase trade for local businesses though increased visitors and use of the 
site in winter months.  

 
- The site is an ideal location for static caravans and would increase tourism 

options for the area, there is a limited provision for such developments in the 
area  

 
- The site provides value for money when a lot of camping sites are overpriced.  

 
- Permanent accommodation is required to effectively run the site  

 
51. CPRE (Campaign to Protect Rural England) – Note that there is an existing 

caravan site and that accept that the access to this site is suitable. It is also 
noted that the refers to colour schemes for the static homes and has a planting 
scheme that appears acceptable. The proposed manager’s accommodation is 
timber clad and single storey, it would appear that this would fit in with the 
landscape. However, concerned are raised whether the requirements of Policy 
12 of the County Durham Plan are met in terms of the managers 
accommodation. Provided policy criteria is satisfied, no objection is raised, 
however conditions are recommended to ensure that a colour scheme of the 
caravans are secured, that an adequate planning scheme is provided and 
conditions to ensure that there is no permanent residency of the site.  

  
Applicants Statement: 
 
52.  Meadow Farm Park first received planning permission in November 2015 as a 

site for camping and touring caravans. It quickly gained support as a recognised 
staging post for those passing through the area, heading north or south on the 
A68, as well as gaining popularity with caravanners from within the region 
enjoying the rural west of the county. However, it also became evident early in 
its existence that there was an increasing demand by those wishing to stay for 
longer periods to enjoy not only the rural side of the county, but also the 
increasingly strong tourism offer available through such as the developments 
associated with Auckland Castle and Kynren, as well as the more established 
attractions of such as Beamish Museum; Bowes Museum; and the city of 
Durham itself. 
 

53. This recognition of the tourism demand is the basis on which this application 
before you is predicated, and it is an application which is founded on the 
ambition of the owners to invest in and grow a business notwithstanding 

Page 50



challenges which have come their way through difficult relationships with 
neighbouring landowners and the obvious hurdle which the pandemic proved 
to be for many enterprises. The aspiration is to have a modestly-scaled site 
offering stays in static caravans, whilst still retaining the offer of camping and 
pitches for touring caravans for those staying for shorter periods or breaking 
longer journeys with a short stay in the area. 

 
54. It is a proposed development invested in through personal capital and with 

personal, hands-on involvement and endeavour, and the applicant believes it 
is this personal involvement which will enable Meadow Farm Park to flourish. 
The application is one which will improve on the overall planning requirements 
and status of the site founded on the 2015 permission, and the grant of 
permission for this current application would put in place a structure within 
which Meadow Farm Park can be taken forward to provide an enhanced 
tourism-related offer in the area 
 

PLANNING CONSIDERATION AND ASSESSMENT 

 
55.  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out that 

if regard is to be had to the development plan, decisions should be made in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. In accordance with advice within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), the policies contained therein are material considerations 
that should be taken into account in decision making. Other material 
considerations include representations received. In this context, it is considered 
that the main planning issues in this instance relate to the principle of 
development, landscaping and visual impact, surface and foul water drainage, 
ecology, highway safety, residential amenity, ground conditions and other 
matters 
 

Principle of Development 
 

56.  Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a material planning 
consideration. The County Durham Plan (CDP) is the statutory development 
plan and the starting point for determining applications as set out in the Planning 
Act and reinforced at Paragraph 12 of the NPPF. The CDP was adopted in 
October 2020 and provides the policy framework for the County up until 2035 
and is therefore considered up to date. 

 
57.  NPPF Paragraph 11c requires applications for development proposals that 

accord with an up to date development plan to be approved without delay. 
NPPF Paragraph 12 states that where a planning application conflicts with an 
up-to-date development plan (including any neighbourhood plans that form part 
of the development plan), permission should not usually be granted. Local 
planning authorities may take decisions that depart from an up-to-date 
development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular case 
indicate that the plan should not be followed. 

 
58.  CDP Policy 10 is considered the starting point for the consideration of 

development in the countryside. The policy sets out a restrictive approach, 

Page 51



stating that development in such locations will not be permitted unless allowed 
for by specific policies in the Plan, relevant policies within an adopted 
neighbourhood plan relating to the application site or where the proposal relates 
to stated exceptions. 
 

59. Relevant to this application is CDP Policy 8, which provides general support for 
visitor accommodation in the countryside where development is appropriate to 
the scale and character of the area and are not used for permanent residential 
accommodation. In addition, the policy sets out that proposals will also only be 
supported where they are necessary to meet identified visitor needs; or is an 
extension to existing visitor accommodation and helps to support future 
business viability and it demonstrates clear opportunity to make its location 
more sustainable. 
 

60.  The approach contained within CDP Policy 8 aligns with NPPF Paragraph 84 
which advises that decisions should enable; the sustainable growth and 
expansion of business in rural areas, the development and diversification of 
agricultural and other land-based rural business; and sustainable rural tourism 
and leisure developments which respect the character of the countryside.  
 

61. In this respect, planning permission was granted in 2015 for the use of the site 
as a camping and touring caravan site and the erection of associated an 
amenity building and hardstanding’s. While the amenity building has not been 
constructed, the use of the site for camping and the siting of touring caravans 
for holiday purposes has been implemented and this permission has 
commenced, the site has been actively used for tourism purposes. This 
application seeks planning permission for the further development of the site to 
facilitate the siting of 18 static caravans for holiday use, whilst retaining the 
established touring caravan and camping elements of the use, albeit at a 
reduced scale.  

 
62.  Visit County Durham advise as a destination, the County needs to increase its 

visitor accommodation capacity to achieve higher spending levels that would, 
in turn, allow the County to sustain more visitor economy businesses and direct 
and indirect employment. The current Durham Tourism Management Plan 
notes that it is important that the County grows its visitor accommodation stock 
quickly in order to exploit Durham’s greater UK profile and capitalise on the 
growth in UK based holidays following COVID-19. It is considered that the 
proposed development would meet this aim and would assist in increasing 
visitor levels into overnight visitors, higher spend and visitor economy 
development. It is therefore considered, that there remains an identified need 
for such proposals in accordance with Policy 8. It is also recognised that the 
proposals would represent an extension to the existing visitor accommodation 
offer and will likely help support the business viability by appealing to a wider 
customer base on a year-round basis.  
 

63. Policy 8 also sets out that tourism proposals within the countryside will be 
supported where they demonstrate clear opportunities to make their location 
more sustainable. It is recognised that the application site is not considered to 
be a wholly sustainable location as it is located within open countryside, in an 
area with limited services and is not well served by public transport. However, 
given the established use of the site, it is considered that the proposed 
development would represent an evolution of the site and would therefore not 

Page 52



introduce a new use that would significantly increase trips to and from the site. 
The applicant has introduced bike stores and operates a bike hire from the site. 
On balance, in this instance, it is considered that given the established use, the 
location of the development would not give rise to a level of harm that would 
represent conflict with CDP Policy 8, but the harm should be recognised in the 
planning balance.  
 

64. Policy 8 requires proposals to respect the character of the countryside and this 
is considered in more detail later within this report. 

 
65.  Overall, recognising the established use of the site, the benefits of the proposal 

in terms of meeting identified visitor needs, and supporting the local economy, 
should be weighed against any landscape and visual impact and the 
unsustainable location of the development, in the planning balance. In the event 
of any approval, conditions are recommended to ensure that the 
accommodation is used for commercial holiday lettings only and to prevent a 
residential use in order to ensure the anticipated benefits.    
 

Manager’s accommodation  
 
66. The proposed scheme also seeks retrospective planning permission for the 

siting of a caravan unit to be used as permanent manager’s accommodation on 
the site. The applicant currently resides in this unit. CDP Policy 12 is relevant 
to this element of the proposals which sets out that new rural workers dwellings 
will only be permitted where:- 
 
- The nature and demands of work involved means that there is an essential 

existing functional need for permanent full-time worker to live at the site in 
order for the enterprise to function effectively. 

- The rural business has been established for three years and is currently 
financially sound. 

- The scale of the dwelling is commensurate with the established functional 
requirements of the enterprise.  

- The functional need could not be fulfilled by another existing dwelling on 
the unit or in the area.    

 
67.  This policy replicates the requirements of Paragraph 80 of the NPPF which sets 

out that planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of 
isolated homes in the countryside unless there is an essential need for a rural 
worker, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside.  
 

68. The supporting information sets out that the manager accommodation is 
required to provide a continuous management presence on site to deal with 
customer’s needs which can arise 24 hours a day.  
 

69. In assessing this element of the development, it is considered that whilst it may 
be desirable for the applicant to live on site, there is not an absolute need in 
order for the business to function. Commonly camping and caravan sites would 
have specific check in and check out times and more often than not bookings 
are made remotely. It is also noted that such uses have concentrated peak 
seasons, where in winter and  colder months site activities would be expected 
to be limited.  
 

Page 53



70. In relation to whether any functional need could be undertaken from other 
dwellings in the vicinity, it is highlighted that the settlement of High Etherley is 
located 1.1 miles away, with a range of housing stock available. The edge of 
West Auckland is also located 1.4 miles away where there is again a range of 
housing available. Given the travel time to these settlements and others in the 
vicinity of the site, it is considered that without significant capital outlay, the 
remote monitoring facilities could easily be adopted to provide surveillance of 
the site from these surrounding settlements and the applicant could rapidly 
respond to matters. Furthermore, no information has been provided to 
demonstrate that any functional need would relate to a full-time worker on the 
site.     
 

71. In addition to this, whilst accepting that the operation has been established and 
operational for more than three years, no financial information has been 
submitted to demonstrate that the business is financially sound and is expected 
to remain so. The proposal would fall foul of CDP Policy 12 in this respect.  
 

72. Overall, given the established lawful use of the site, it is considered that the 
expansion of the use to include static caravans is acceptable in principle, 
subject to a detailed analysis of the impacts of the development as set out 
below. Conditions are recommended to define the use of the site and ensure 
that the caravans are used for commercial lettings only. The formation of a 
permanent manager’s accommodation would not meet the functional and 
financial tests of the County Durham Plan and the NPPF to permit an isolated 
dwelling within the countryside.  
 

73. It is however recognised that the applicants are currently living on the site and 
that the majority of the construction work has been undertaken by them. On this 
basis, to facilitate the continued development of the site and to allow time to 
find alternative accommodation, a period of 12 months temporary provision is 
considered appropiate and is to be secured by condition. The applicant would 
be subject to enforcement action in the event this temporary period is breached.   
 

Landscaping and Visual Impact 
 

74.  The application site lies within the Countryside but outside any designated or 
protected landscape area. CDP Policy 39 sets out that proposals for new 
development in such locations will be permitted where it would not cause 
unacceptable harm to the character, quality or distinctiveness of the landscape.   

 
75.   CDP Policy 8 h) states that proposals for new, and extensions to existing, sites 

for static caravans, along with associated storage and infrastructure, will be 
supported where they are not unduly prominent in the landscape from either 
long or short range views by ensuring: 

 
(i) adequate year-round screening through existing topography, vegetation or 
other features which are compatible with the landscape. Where new or 
additional screening is required this must be suitably established before 
development can take place; 
 
(ii) the layout would not adversely affect the character of the area; and 
 

Page 54



(iii) the materials and colour of chalets or static caravans, site services and 
infrastructure are designed to blend with the surroundings of the site and are 
limited in scale to the needs of the site occupants only. 

 
76.  CDP Policy 10 l) states that new development in the countryside must not, by 

virtue of their siting, scale, design and operation, give rise to unacceptable harm 
to the intrinsic character, beauty or tranquillity of the countryside which cannot 
be adequately mitigated or compensated for. In addition, CDP Policy 29 outlines 
that development proposals should contribute positively to an area’s character, 
identity, heritage significance, townscape and landscape features, helping to 
create and reinforce locally distinctive and sustainable communities. 
 

77. NPPF Paragraph 130 advises that planning decisions should ensure that 
developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the area for the 
lifetime of the development; are visually attractive; and are sympathetic to local 
character including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting. 
NPPF Paragraph 174 advises that planning decisions should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued 
landscapes and recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside. 

 
78.  At present these is a large amount of hardstanding that has been formed, 

concentrated in the northern portion of the site. A portion of this hardstanding 
was laid lawfully, under the original permission for the site and has an 
established visual impact. As a result, along with other structures and boundary 
treatments, the site in close range view has an urban appearance. The site 
owner more recently has attempted to soften the appearance of site though the 
planting of vegetation separating caravan pitches, this has yet to fully mature. 
A mature hedgerow has also been allowed to grow in height down the southern 
and western boundary of the site, to helps screen the site from the adjacent 
highway of Ramshaw Lane. The vegetation of Norton Fine Gill also provides a 
visual buffer and screens the site from direct views from the north from Hart 
Brigg Lane. It is however recognised that in Winter months, filtered views of the 
site are achievable. In wider range views, particularly from higher land of Toft 
Hill the site is not considered particularly prominent and is largely read as part 
of the wider countryside with pockets of sporadic development. There is 
however a level change across the site, with the land generally falling from a 
high point from the southern site boundary to the northern boundary of the site. 
This means that development in the southern portion of the site is more 
prominent and has a higher risk of landscape harm.  
 

79.  The proposed site layout has attempted to address this level change, by 
concentrating caravan plots in the northern portion of the site and leaving the 
higher southern portion free of development. This is with the exception of the 
manager’s accommodation, play areas and the camping area. In assessing the 
landscape impact of the proposals, the Council’s Landscape Officer recognising 
that the site does not strictly benefit from year-round screening advises that the 
proposals would cause some harm to the character, quality and distinctiveness 
of the local landscape. It is however noted that improvements have been made 
to the landscape planting plan that would help reduce the visual prominence 
and provide better long-term visual enclosure of some areas of the scheme. It 
is however advised until this becomes established, and depending on the 
quality and performance of the planting, this harm will not be fully mitigated in 

Page 55



the short term. It is also advised that there would still be residual landscape 
harm in relation to the siting of the caravans on the higher southern portion of 
the site which would not be fully screened, even once the landscaping is 
matured. 
 

80. Amendments have been sought from the application in this respect, however it 
is advised that this would impact on the quantum of development achievable, 
adversely impacting on the viability of the scheme, given associated costs of 
required site improvements. It is however noted that the proposed manager’s 
accommodation, as set out above would need to be removed after a 12-month 
period. This would also assist in reducing the visual impact of the development, 
being the most southern unit of accommodation.  
 

81. The site layout also proposes the removal of a significant amount of 
hardstanding which adds to the urbanised feel of the site. This is considered to 
represent an improvement over the existing situation. As highlighted above, the 
appearance of the static caravans on site varies, some with painted aluminium, 
others have been clad in a dark stained waney edge timber cladding. This 
cladding has also been applied to the amenity blocks.  Unfortunately, the 
cladding of these elements of has led to a jarring visual appearance which is 
not considered particularly sympathetic to the rural character of the area.  
 

82. Overall, on balance the development would result in some residual landscape 
harm. However, it is considered that this level of harm would not result in a 
conflict with policy but would need to be weighed in the planning balance. 
Conditions are recommended to be attached to ensure that the landscaping 
scheme is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. Furthermore, 
conditions are recommended to ensure that any sited caravans are of an 
appropiate design/colour and that any hardstanding which does not align with 
the approved layout is removed.    

 
Surface and foul water drainage 

 
83.  CDP Policies 35 and 36 relate to flood water management and infrastructure. 

Policy 35 requires development proposals to consider the effects of the scheme 
on flood risk and ensure that it incorporates a Sustainable Drainage System 
(SUDs) to manage surface water drainage. Development should not have an 
adverse impact on water quality. Policy 36 seeks to ensure that suitable 
arrangements are made for the disposal of foul water.  
 

84.  Part c) of Policy 35 states that all development proposals will be required to 
consider the effect of the proposed development on flood risk, both on-site and 
off-site, commensurate with the scale and impact of the development and taking 
into account the predicted impacts of climate change for the lifetime of the 
proposal. Development will not be permitted unless it can be proven through a 
Flood Risk Assessment that the development, including the access, will be safe, 
without increasing or exacerbating flood risk elsewhere, any residual risk can 
be safely managed and where possible will reduce flood risk overall. 
 

85. Part 14 of the NPPF seeks to resist inappropriate development in areas at risk 
of flooding, directing development away from areas at highest risk (whether 
existing or future). Where development is necessary in such areas, the 
development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk 

Page 56



elsewhere. Paragraph 167 advises that when determining planning 
applications, Local Planning Authorities should ensure that flood risk is not 
increased elsewhere and that, where appropriate, applications should be 
supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment. Paragraph 169 goes on to 
advise that major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage 
systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. 
 

86. Concerns have been raised by the adjoining site owner regarding surface water 
flooding, given the topography of the site it is advised that in high rain events 
surface water flows over the site boundaries. Due to the hardstanding’s created 
on site, the topography of the land and surrounding land levels, this is 
considered a likely occurrence. It is however considered that to a lesser degree 
this would have happened naturally even if the site was in an agricultural use 
due to land levels and topography.    

 
87.  In consideration of this issue, the application is supported by a Flood Risk 

Assessment and a Drainage Strategy. The submitted information sets out that 
the site is within Flood Zone 1, with the lowest risk of flooding. The drainage 
strategy proposes that the runoff of surface water within the site would be 
conveyed by a series of filter drains to a detention basin, where its flow would 
be attenuated, before being discharged to a highways gully on Ramshaw Lane 
by a pump.   
 

88. The Council’s Drainage and Costal Protection Team advise that whilst the 
principle of the proposed surface water strategy is acceptable, construction 
details of all the SuDS features together with an engineering layout plan 
identifying levels of the drainage infrastructure and specification should be 
submitted. It is advised that the detention basin should be no steeper than 1 in 
5. It is advised that this detail could be secured condition, including setting out 
a timeframe for completion.  Given the retrospective nature of the application, 
it is considered that a period of 12 months would be appropriate to detail this 
information and any unauthorised hardstanding’s that do not align with the 
approved layout would also need to be removed within this period.  
 

89.  In terms of foul water, at present, the development is served by a cess pit which 
is emptied under contract with a local operator. Although not the preferred 
solution for developments of this nature, this arrangement has been installed 
under the general binding rules of the Environment Agency without the need 
further permission. Complaints have been received regarding instances where 
the capacity of this system has been exceeded. The Environment Agency and 
the Council’s Environmental Health Team have specific powers for such 
matters and can undertake investigations in relation to this.  
 

90. In order to address this matter, the development as proposed intends to 
upgrade this to package treatment plant which would treat wastewater before 
discharging into a gully in the highway. The supporting information calculates 
the estimated daily flows generated by the development, on the assumption of 
full occupancy, indicating the size of the package treatment plant required to be 
installed.   
 

91. In consideration of the proposals the Environment Agency offer no objection to 
this approach, it is however advised that an Environmental Permit would need 
to be secured (under separate legislation). Overall, in principle, the foul 

Page 57



drainage strategy for the site is considered acceptable, however a condition is 
recommended to secure further details of the proposed scheme in order to 
ensure that it conforms with the technical requirements of the Environment 
Agency and adequately treats wastewater to prevent pollution of the 
environment.   
 

92. However, as set out above, the application is in part retrospective, with 6 
caravans already sited and brought into use. Until the proposed package 
treatment solution is installed and brought into use, an interim solution is 
required. A condition is therefore recommended to ensure that the levels of the 
current cess pit are routinely monitored, and the tank is emptied on a frequent 
basis. While recognising that both the Environment Agency and the Council’s 
Environmental Health Service have specific powers in relation to potential 
pollution instances of this nature, this would allow the Local Planning Authority 
to control and reduce the risk of pollution to the environment in line with relevant 
policy.   
 

93.  Overall, subject to conditions requiring the submission of further details and 
subsequent completion of the surface and foul water drainage strategy for the 
site and the implementation of an interim management regime, the 
development is considered to accord with CDP Policies 35 and 36 and Part 14 
of the NPPF. 

 
Ecology 

 
94.  NPPF Paragraph 179 b) seeks to promote the conservation, restoration and 

enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the protection and 
recovery of priority species; and identify and pursue opportunities for securing 
measurable net gains for biodiversity. Paragraph 180 d) goes on to advise that 
opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments should be 
integrated as part of their design, especially where this can secure measurable 
net gains for biodiversity or enhance public access to nature where this is 
appropriate.  
 

95.  In line with this, CDP Policy 41 seeks to secure net gains for biodiversity and 
coherent ecological networks. The application is supported by an Ecological 
Impact Assessment, Breeding Bird Survey, Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment, 
Outline Landscape Management and Monitoring Principles document, and 
Defra Biodiversity Net Gain Metric in excel format. 
 

96.  The submitted Ecological Impact Assessment concludes that the development 
would not result in adverse impacts in relation to protected species and their 
habitats. The reports and subsequent biodiversity metrics calculation 
demonstrate that a net biodiversity gain would be achieved subject to the 
delivery of the submitted landscaping plan.  
 

97. The Council’s Ecology officer advises that the methodologies and conclusions 
within the report are sound, and that the development would achieve a marginal 
net biodiversity gain.  
 

98.  Overall, subject to a condition requiring the completion of the proposed 
landscaping scheme the development is considered to accord with CDP Policy 
43 and Part 15 of the NPPF. 

Page 58



 
Highway Safety  
 
99.  The NPPF sets out at Paragraph 110 that safe and suitable access should be 

achieved for all users. In addition, Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that 
development should only be refused on transport grounds where the residual 
cumulative impacts on development are severe. 
 

100. CDP Policy 21 outlines that development should not be prejudicial to highway 
safety or have a severe cumulative impact on network capacity, expecting 
developments to deliver well designed pedestrian routes and sufficient cycle 
and car parking provision. Similarly, Policy 29 advocates that convenient 
access is made for all users of the development together with connections to 
existing cycle and pedestrian routes. Criterion q) of Policy 10 does not permit 
development in the countryside where it would be prejudicial to highway safety. 
 

101. The parish council raise concerns over the level of parking on site, highlighting 
the potential for parking to spill out onto the highway. 
 

102.  The proposed development would utilise the existing site entrance off 
Ramshaw Lane, leading to an internal site layout. Each caravan unit would have 
its own parking space whilst there would be parking available, if required, on 
grassed areas on the site.  
 

103. Highways Authority raise no objections to the continued use of the site access 
or the development as a whole. It is however highlighted that conditions, 
ensuring site visibility splays are maintained, and the surfacing of the entrance 
adjoining the highway, would be required.  Conditions to this effect are 
recommended, including a compliance period of 12 months for the surfacing 
works.    
 

104.  Whilst recognising the concerns of the Parish Council, sufficient car parking is 
considered to remain within the site and the proposals are not considered to 
adversely affect highway or pedestrian safety, subject to the attached 
conditions. The development is therefore considered to accord with CDP 
Policies 10 and 21 and Part 9 of the NPPF in this respect.  

 
Residential Amenity 

 
105.  Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF require that a good standard of amenity for existing 

and future users be ensured, whilst seeking to prevent both new and existing 
development from contributing to, or being put at unacceptable risk from, 
unacceptable levels of pollution. 
 

106.  CDP Policy 31 states that all new development that has the potential to lead to, 
or be affected by, unacceptable levels of air quality, inappropriate odours and 
vibration or other sources of pollution, either individually or cumulatively, will not 
be permitted including where any identified mitigation cannot reduce the impact 
on the environment, amenity of people or human health to an acceptable level. 
 

107.  Criterion r) of Policy 10 does not permit development in the countryside that 
would impact adversely upon residential or general amenity. 
 

Page 59



108. In general, the site lies within the open countryside, however a rural agricultural 
type enterprise known as Sandbed Farm is located directly to the north east of 
the site. A number of buildings containing animals and equipment are sited in 
proximity of the site boundary, and an access road also runs along the northern 
boundary to the site. Currently Sandbed Farm has a temporary permission for 
a residential caravan to be sited, while an appeal is currently being held for the 
construction of a rural workers dwelling. These elements would be sited 
approximately a minimum of 50m from the site boundaries.     
 

109. Concerns have been raised from the adjacent site regarding a loss of amenity, 
specifically in relation to the siting of caravans in the northeast corner of the 
stie. It has been advised that the site levels in this area have been altered 
through the importation of materials, creating a large hardstanding area. Futher 
objections have also been raised by other properties in relation to noise and 
disturbance levels from the site.  
 

110. The Council’s Environmental Health and Consumer Protection Team (EHO) 
advise that there is no history of complaints relating noise, odour or light. It also 
recognised that the site has an established use as a touring caravan and 
camping site, it is considered that the introduction of static caravans to this use 
would not significantly intensify or change the nature of any established impact. 
Whilst views would be achievable across the adjacent site, this in itself is not 
considered to represent a significant loss of amenity, particularly over the 
existing established uses. It is also noted that the current and potential 
residential elements associated from the adjacent site are removed from the 
site boundaries with intervening developments. 
 

111. In relation to the specific concerns regarding the change in site levels in the 
north-eastern proportion of the site, officers observations are that these 
alterations are relatively limited and do not significantly alter the relationships 
between the two sites. Notwithstanding this, the submitted plans detail that this 
area would only be used as an overspill area for touring caravans while 
conditions detailed above require the removal of hardstanding’s on the site to 
align with the approved site layout. This would have the effect of requiring the 
removal of the imported material. The approved landscaping plan also details 
native shrub and tree planting in this area to soften the appearance of this 
element of the site, this would also have the effect of screening views once 
mature.    
 

112.  Overall, subject to conditions requiring the installation of the landscaping and 
removal of hardstanding’s the proposals are considered to maintain the amenity 
of surrounding users in accordance with CDP Policies 10 and 31, as well as 
Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF. 

 
Ground Conditions 

 
113.  CDP Policy 32 requires sites to be suitable for use taking into account 

contamination and unstable land issues. Paragraph 183 of the NPPF requires 
sites to be suitable for their proposed use taking account of ground conditions 
and any risks arising from land instability and contamination.  

 
114.  The application is supported by a Coal Mining Risk Assessment which 

considers the risk of previous shallow coal mining activity on the site. It is 

Page 60



identified that there is a mine shaft located centrally towards the southern 
boundary of the site, and a second shaft just outside the southern boundary of 
the site. In line with mitigation detailed within the original planning approval for 
the site, exclusions zones have been established around these shaft locations. 
This is proposed to be replicated in this scheme, with the caravan pitches and 
hardstanding areas all located out with of the detailed protection zone.  

 
115.  In the original application The Coal Authority raised no objection to the use of 

the wider site as a camping and touring caravan site subject to ensuring that no 
activities were undertaken within the mineshaft portion zones. This is because 
of the transient nature of the use and that limited ground works are proposed. 
However, the Coal Authority’s advise has subsequently changed, and it is now 
advised that units of accommodation, where there is likely a high degree of 
occupancy, such as static caravans, are required to consider whether remedial 
measures in terms of site stability are required. This is referenced in the 
submitted coal mining risk assessment which recommended that further site 
investigations are required to inform this. 
 

116. Given the part retrospective nature of the application, The Coal Authority advise 
that no further static caravans are sited unless the required investigations have 
been carried out. This recognises the established use of the site and that the 
siting of a caravan in itself does not require engineering works or the alteration 
of site levels.   
 

117. Subject to a condition requiring the undertaking of additional site investigation 
and carrying out of mitigation measure as required, the development is 
considered to comply with CDP Policy 32 and para. 183 of the NPPF.  
 

Other Matters 
 

Mineral resources 
 
118.  CDP Policy 56 states that planning permission will not be granted for non-

mineral development that would lead to the sterilisation of mineral resources 
within a Mineral Safeguarding Area. This is unless it can be demonstrated that 
the mineral in the location concerned is no longer of any current or potential 
value, provision can be made for the mineral to be extracted satisfactorily prior 
to the non-minerals development taking place without unacceptable adverse 
impact, the non-minerals development is of a temporary nature that does not 
inhibit extraction or there is an overriding need for the non-minerals 
development which outweighs the need to safeguard the mineral or it 
constitutes exempt development as set out in the Plan.  
 

119. The site is form part of a wider area identified a Coal Resource Area, the 
provisions of CDP Policy 56 (Safeguarding Mineral Resources) are therefore 
applicable. Given that the proposed development is neither ‘exempt’ as set out 
in appendix C C2 of the CDP (criterion e) or ‘temporary in nature’ (criterion c) 
CDP Policy 56 would normally require that a Mineral Assessment be prepared. 
However, given the established uses on the site, which in large are not 
considered development (a caravan is considered a chattel facilitating a use) it 
is not considered that pursuing a Mineral Assessment upon this application is 
appropriate or worthwhile. While it has not been demonstrated, it is considered 

Page 61



that the sterilisation would likely be minimal. On this basis, it is considered that 
there would be no conflict with CDP Policy 56 
 

Renewable energy  
 
120. CDP Policy 29 sets out that development proposals should minimise gas 

emissions by seeking to achieve zero carbon buildings and provide renewable 
and low carbon energy generation. Where connection to the gas network is not 
viable, development should utilise renewable and low carbon technologies as 
the main heating source.  
 

121. In this respect a caravan is not considered a building, but a chattel (a movable 
item) facilitating a use, it is therefore considered that the requirements of Policy 
29 would not strictly apply. It is however recognised that the site is not 
connected to the main gas supply, but that as is usual, a caravan would utilise 
a potable LPG gas bottle. Options would however be available to the site owner 
to utilise electric heating and cooking facilities rather than gas, which could be 
sourced from centralised renewable energy generation. Solar panel and off grid 
battery storage solutions are available but would likely to prove cost prohibitive, 
particularly in considering the levels of investment required to address other 
matters on the site. Overall, in this instance no conflict with Policy 29 is 
identified.  

 

CONCLUSION 

 
122.  The development seeks permission to for the formation of a 18no. pitch static 

caravan site, a 16no. pitch touring caravan site, and a camping site to be used 
for holiday purposes. Planning permission is also sought for the use as part of 
the site as a manages accommodation through the siting of as specific caravan.  
 

123. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. NPPF Paragraph 12 states that where a 
planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan (including 
any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan), permission 
should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take decisions 
that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material 
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed. 
 

124.  Given the established use of the site, in this instance the principle of the 
introduction of static caravans is on balance considered acceptable, while 
acknowledging the harm arising from the unsustainable location of the 
development. The use of the site to provide residential accommodation for a 
site manager is however not considered to meet strict tests for residential 
accommodation in the countryside due the lack of functional need and the lack 
of the proven financial viability of the business. A temporary period of 12 months 
for this use is however considered appropiate.   
 

125. Although additional landscaping is proposed and the site would be reconfigured 
to create a more attractive development, a residual landscape harm would still 
arise. This is not however considered sufficient to amount to a policy conflict.  

 

Page 62



126.  Proposed conditions would ensure that the development would not have an 
adverse impact on flooding, pollution in the environment, residential amenity, 
highway safety, safeguard ecological interests and ensure that the site is stable 
for the intended use.    
 

127. The development as proposed is considered to comply with Policies 8, 10, 21, 
29. 31, 35, 36, 39 and 41 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 6, 9, 14 and 15 
of the NPPF. The proposed conditions would address the acknowledged 
retrospective elements of development and would provide a robust framework 
to enforce in the event of noncompliance with relevant conditions. There are no 
material considerations which indicate otherwise and therefore the application 
is recommended for approval. 
 

Public Sector Equality Duty  
 

128.    Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires public authorities when exercising 
their functions to have due regard to the need to i) the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct, ii) 
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and iii) foster good 
relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share that characteristic.  
 
In this instance, officers have assessed all relevant factors and do not consider 
that there are any equality impacts identified. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION  
 

That the application be Approved subject to the following conditions:- 
 
Plans 
1. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with 

the approved plans listed in Part 3 - Approved Plans. 

Planting Plan, Drawing Number 2109.01E 
Proposed Site Plan, Ref 21001-002 Rev D 
Reception & Amenities Block, Ref 21001 – 003 A 

 
Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of development 
is obtained in accordance with Policies 8, 10, 12, 21, 29, 34, 35, 39 and 41 of the 
County Durham Plan and Parts 5, 6, 9, 12 and 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

Holiday Restriction  
2. The development hereby approved shall be occupied for commercial holiday 

purposes only and shall not be occupied as a person's sole or main place of 

residence. The caravans facilitating the use shall be made available for 

commercial holiday lets only and no single let shall exceed 31 days and shall be 

repeated again in a 2 month. The owners/operator shall maintain an up-to-date 

register of the names of all occupiers of the holiday accommodation and of their 

main home addresses and telephone numbers, along with details of the 

Page 63



advertisement of the site for of holiday lets. This information shall be made 

available at all reasonable times to the Local Planning Authority. There shall be 

no residential use of the site at any time.  

 Reason: To ensure that the development is occupied as holiday accommodation 
only, in order to comply with Policies 8, 10 and 12 of the County Durham Plan 
and Parts 5 and 6 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

  
Temporary manager’s accommodation  
3. Notwithstanding the requirements of condition 2, for a temporary period of 12 

months only, provision can be made for the use of a single caravan unit as a 

residential use for manager’s accommodation (and their family) in the location 

depicted for manager’s accommodation on the approved plans. The manager 

shall be directly employed by the site. After the temporary 12 month period has 

elapsed the residential use shall cease and the caravan unit, hardstanding’s 

and means of enclosure facilitating the use shall be removed. Thereafter native 

shrub planting in the location of the manager accommodation shall be planted 

in accordance with the planting notes and plant schedule set out on the 

approved planting plan, Drwg no. 2109.01E. The planting shall thereafter be 

retained for the lifetime of the development.   

 
Reason: In order to prevent the formation of an isolated rural residential use 
and in the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with Policies 
10, 12, 29 and 39 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 5, 6 and 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Maximum Number of Statics  
4. The maximum number of static caravans facilitating the use hereby approved 

shall not exceed 18 in number at any one time. The static caravans shall only 

be sited in the locations depicted in the approved plans, any static caravan 

which deviates from the approved siting within a period of 12 months from the 

date of this decision shall be removed from the site.   

 
Reason:- To define the permission and in the interest of the visual and 
residential amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policies 8, 10, 
29, 31 and 39 of the  County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
 

Maximum Number of Tourers  
5. The maximum number of touring caravans facilitating the use hereby approved 

shall not exceed 16 in number at any one time. The touring caravans shall only 

be sited in the locations depicted in the approved plans. No caravan shall be 

sited in the overspill area when capacity remains in an approved location 

elsewhere on the site.   Any touring caravan which is sited in a location which 

deviates from the approved siting within a period of 12 months from the date of 

this decision shall be removed from the site.   

 
Reason:- To define the permission and in the interest of the visual and 
residential amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policies 8, 10, 
29, 31 and 39 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

Page 64



 
Maximum Campers  
6. The maximum number of campers shall not exceed 30 individuals at any one 

time, Camping shall only be undertaken in the area depicted ‘camping area’ on 

the approved plans and no other part of the site, including landscaping, 

shrub/tress or wildflower planting areas. The owners/operator shall maintain an 

up-to-date register of the number of campers on site at any time, this 

information shall make this information available at all reasonable times to the 

Local Planning Authority 

 
Reason:- To define the permission and in the interest of the visual and 
residential amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policies 8, 10, 
29, 31 and 39 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Landscaping 
7. The landscaping scheme depicted on the approved Planting Plan, Drwg no. 

2109.01E shall be completed within 18 months from the approval of the 

application. All plant, vegetation and habitat creation shall be installed and 

maintained in accordance with the approved details and thereafter retained for 

the lifetime of the development. Any vegetation which fails to flourish, dies or 

becomes damaged within a 5 year period from planting shall be replaced in 

accordance with the approved details.  

 Reason:- In order to mitigate the landscape impacts of the development and in 
order to ensure a net biodiversity gain. In accordance with Policies 8, 10, 29, 
39 and 41 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

  
Alignment of hardstanding’s  
8. Within a period of 12 months from the date of this decision, any hardstanding 

(including any subbase) which deviates from that depicted on the approved site 

plan shall be removed from the site. The resultant levels of the site shall align 

with that depicted on the approved site layout. There shall be no storage of any 

material resulting from the removed hardstanding on the site at any time.  

 Reason:- In order to mitigate the landscape impacts of the development and in 
order to ensure a net biodiversity gain. In accordance with Policies 8, 10, 29, 
39 and 41 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Maintenance of hedgerow  
9. Notwithstanding the submitted information, the hedgerow along the western 

and southern boundary of the site shall be maintained at a minimum height of 

2.4m from the ground level of the base of the hedge. The hedgerow along the 

western and southern boundary shall not be removed from the site.   

 
 Reason:- In order to mitigate the landscape impacts of the development and in 

order to ensure a net biodiversity gain. In accordance with Policies 8, 10, 29, 
39 and 41 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 65



Design of caravans  
10. Within 6 months of the date of the permission hereby approved, a scheme to 

define the design, specification and colour finishes of any static caravan sited 

to facilitate the use and the amenities/reception units shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter within 12 

months of approval of this application the appearance all static caravans and 

the amenity units on the site shall comply with the parameters of the approved 

scheme or shall be permanently removed from the site until compliance.  

 
Reason:- In order to control the design of the landscape and minimise the 
associate impacts on the surrounding landscape and character and 
appearance of the area. In accordance with Policies 8, 10, 29 and 39 of the 
County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
PD Removal  
11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development Order) 2015, no structures or temporary buildings shall 

be sited, no means of enclosure shall be erected or additional hardstanding 

installed without the further grant of planning permission. Any structures or 

temporary buildings not depicted on the approved plans shall be permanently 

removed from the site within 6 months of this permission.  

Reason: To ensure the development relates acceptably to the character and 
appearance of the surround area and landscape, in accordance with policies 8, 
10, 29 and 39 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 
 

Foul water system 
12. No more than 6 static caravans to facilitate the use hereby approved shall be 

sited at any one time, unless an upgraded foul water drainage system has been 

installed and brought into full operation in accordance with details to be first 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 

details shall be based on the principles established in the Flood Risk 

Assessment and Drainage Report revised May 2022, Ref P256 and shall 

include details on the capacity of the system to treat the maximum theoretical 

occupancy of the site, level of treatment, agreed point of discharge and a 

maintenance regime. The approved foul drainage system shall remain 

operational within the approved parameters for the lifetime of the development. 

 Reason:- in order to ensure that the site is served by a suitable means of foul 
drainage, in accordance with Policies 35 and 36 of the County Durham Plan 
and Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

Foul water Cess Pit management 
13. In the interim period between the granting of the planning permission hereby 

approved and the installation of the upgraded foul water drainage system 

approved by condition no. 12, the sewage/water level of the cess pit serving the 

development shall be monitored on a weekly basis and regularly emptied to 

ensure that its level does not exceed 85% of the total capacity of the tank. The 

owners/operator shall maintain a detailed record of monitoring levels of the cess 

Page 66



pit relative to its total capacity. A record of associated waste transfer notes shall 

also be kept. This information shall make this information available at all 

reasonable times to the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate adherence 

with this condition.  

Reason:- in order to ensure that the site is served by a suitable means of foul 
drainage, in accordance with Policies 35 and 36 of the County Durham Plan 
and Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Surface water  
14. No more than 6no. static caravans shall be sited or any additional hardstanding 

(including access tracks and caravan/parking plots) created on the site until a 

detailed surface water drainage scheme has been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority based in the principles set out in Flood 

Risk Assessment and Drainage Report revised May 2022, Ref P256. The 

submitted details shall include a timetable for completion and a maintenance 

regime. The approved drainage system shall remain operational at all times 

within the approved parameters for the lifetime of the development. 

Reason:- in order to ensure that the site is served by a suitable means of 
drainage, in accordance with Policies 35 and 36 of the County Durham Plan 
and Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Highways  
15. Within a period of 12 months from the date of this permission the vehicular 

access hereby approved shall be surfaced in tarmac or concrete for its entire 
width and extending back 3.85m from the edge of the adopted road surface.
  

 Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory means of access to the site, in 
accordance with Policies 8, 10 and 21 of the County Durham Plan and Part 9 
of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Site Visibility  
16. Site visibility lines drawn between a point 2.4m back from the carriageway edge 

along the centreline of the access, to points on the carriageway edge 65m  from 
the centreline of the access (at both sides) shall be maintained free of 
obstruction at all times.  

  
 Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory means of access to the site, in 

accordance with Policies 8, 10 and 21 of the County Durham Plan and Part 9 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Land stability  
17. No more than 6no. static caravans shall be sited or any additional hardstanding 

(including access tracks and caravan/parking plots) created on the site, until a 

scheme of intrusive investigations has been carried out on site to establish the 

risks posed to the development by past shallow coal mining activity and 

detailing of any required remediation works and/or mitigation has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter 

any required remedial works shall be undertaken in accordance with the 

approved details.   

 

Page 67



Reason: In order to address land stability concerns in connection with previous 
coal mining activity on the site in accordance with Policy 32 of the County 
Durham Plan and Paragraph 183 of the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 
Mineshaft protection zone 
18. There shall be no public access, including for leisure pursuits, siting of 

caravans, tents or parking of motor vehicles within the mineshaft protection 

zones as depicted on the approved plans. Such areas shall be fenced off to 

restrict public access. 

 
 Reason: In order to address land stability concerns in connection with previous 

coal mining activity on the site in accordance with Policy 32 of the County 
Durham Plan and Paragraph 183 of the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 
 

STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT 

 
In accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has, 
without prejudice to a fair and objective assessment of the proposals, issues raised 
and representations received, sought to work with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive manner with the objective of delivering high quality sustainable development 
to improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area in 
accordance with the NPPF. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Submitted Application Forms, Plans and supporting documents 
National Planning Policy Framework 
The County Durham Plan (CDP) 
Residential Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2020 
Statutory consultation responses 
Internal consultation responses 
External consultation responses 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



 

  
Planning Services  
 

Meadow Farm Caravan Park 
Ramshaw Lane Ramshaw Bishop 
Auckland DL14 0NB 

 

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with 
the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her 
majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown copyright.  
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright 
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceeding.  
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 2005  

 

Comments   

Date:  14/03/23 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 The Minutes of the Meeting held on 17 November 2022
	5a DM/23/00032/FPA - Stack, 9A Newgate Street, Bishop Auckland, DL14 7EP
	5b DM/21/00749/FPA - Meadow Farm Caravan Park Ramshaw Lane Ramshaw Bishop Auckland DL14 0NB

